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Key Figures 2007|2008

2007-2008

2006-2007

2005-2006

387.7

366.5

347.0

Part of sales outside Austria in %

92.0

93.8

94.3

EBIT

27.6

22.2

22.4

Income Statement (in million EUR)
Sales

EBT

24.6

15.5

21.7

Earnings after taxes

17.3

11.8

14.7

Balance sheet total

330.9

326.8

322.8

Non-current assets

177.7

180.5

176.9

Liabilities

153.2

154.4

158.1

Group equity

177.7

172.4

164.8

53.7

52.7

51.1

Cash flow from operations

52.3

38.8

37.8

Investments (excluding financial investments)

36.0

31.9

46.8

Depreciation

26.9

26.3

29.0

Employees yearly average

2,706

2,850

2,683

Personnel costs (in million EUR)

121.4

125.1

120.9

Balance Sheet (in million EUR)

Group equity as % of total capital
Cash flow and Investments (in million EUR)

Employees

Miba Far East
■ Production sites

Stock Exchange Data (in EUR)
Earnings per share

13.29

9.07

11.30

Dividend per share

3.30

2.80

2.80

Dividend yield in %

2.77

2.69

2.36

119.10

104.00

118.70

Share quotation
at closing of business year (01/31)

Miba Precision Components

■ Sales and engineering offices
All companies are 100% subsidiaries, except for
ABM Advanced Bearing Materials (50%) and
2) Mahle Metal Leve Miba Sinterizados (30%).
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Positioning

Vision
Miba is a successful independent company based in Austria with a presence in the
world's major economic centers. As a leading strategic partner to the international engine
and automotive industry, Miba is close to achieving its goal: No vehicle without Miba
technology.

Mission
Miba’s technology makes motor vehicles, trains, ships, aircraft and power stations more
efficient, safer and more environmentally friendly.

Values
Every employee is a part of the Miba family and is committed to the same values:
■ Technology Leadership
Through innovation, Miba is always one step ahead of the future. Our customers benefit
from individualized, cost-efficient solutions.
■ Entrepreneurship
Miba crosses borders in order to develop trend-setting technologies. Profitable growth
forms the basis for our success as an independent company.
■ Passion for Success
Miba spares no effort to reach the highest degree of efficiency, technical precision and
quality. Miba learns from its mistakes so that it will continue to improve every day.
■ Life-Long Learning
Miba is open to change and is committed to sharing knowledge and promoting ongoing
education and training.
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Preface by the Chief Executive Officer

2

Mobility Fascinates Us –
It Always Has

“No vehicle without Miba technology” – that is Miba’s vision. Established in 1927 as a
one-man operation, the company celebrated its 80th anniversary in fiscal year 2007-2008.
Today Miba has about 2,700 employees spread over three continents. Since its founding,
the company has been a driver of innovation and has helped to shape the dynamic
development of the engine and automotive industry. Miba’s recipe for success has

Miba technology is found today in commercial vehicles, ships, aircraft and trains, and we

3

report strong growth rates in each of these sectors every year. We generate

Introduction | Preface

always been the same: a high quality standard for products and services.

approximately half of our sales in the automotive industry. Miba supplies virtually all
European car models with sintered components, for example.
The development of our technologies goes hand in hand with the development of new
generations of vehicles by our business partners. A close partnership with the most
prominent engine and car manufacturers in the world is the basis for our innovative
capabilities.
This year’s Annual Report bears witness to the enormous progress that has been made
in the automotive industry, which is impressively documented by the following series of
photos. Our special thanks go to the Salzburg Toy Museum, which provided us with the
antique vehicles shown in these pictures.
Mobility fascinates us – it always has. And we will continue to face our industry’s primary
challenges in the future – reducing fuel consumption and emissions while at the same
time increasing power and efficiency, driving comfort and safety – together with our
partners in the international engine and automotive industry.

4

No vehicle without Miba technology –
this has been our vision for years.
Three out of four cars
produced in Europe contain
5
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Miba sintered components.

We develop our technology
hand in hand
with our customers.
At eleven sites.
Introduction | Preface
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On three continents.

7

8

Christopher Columbus
wasn’t the only one
to discover new worlds.
We opened new plants last year
9
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in China and Slovakia.

Our employees’ innovative ideas
set us apart from the competition.
The number of patents
filed last year
Introduction | Preface
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grew by 22 percent.

11
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Vehicles may change, but the quality
of our products remains constant.
In the 2007-2008 business year
we invested 16 million euros
13
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in research and development.

Our production sites
mean a lot to us.
Miba is an important employer
and an economic engine
Introduction | Preface
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in many regions.
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In 2007-2008 Miba celebrated its 80th anniversary
and at the same time set the stage for the future. We opened
new plants in China and Slovakia and optimized our production
site concept. New growth areas that complement our core
businesses were identified. Here is what the Miba Management
Introduction | Management Board
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Board has to say about tradition and innovation at Miba.

Between Tradition
and Innovation

What were the highpoints of the

How have the business segments

2007-2008 business year?

developed?

Peter Mitterbauer:

Wolfgang Litzlbauer:

In the past business year we were able to

We are very satisfied with the develop-

continue our strategy of profitable growth.

ment of all three business segments –

We again made major investments both in

Miba Sinter Group, Miba Bearing Group

Miba’s international development and in

and Miba Friction Group. In general, we

our Austrian operations. We opened

benefited from an unusually high number

“We invested about 36 million

production sites in China and Slovakia and

of new orders and significantly higher

euros in plants and equipment

increased our focus on the development of

production numbers in the European

in the past year.

technologically sophisticated products. We

automotive industry as a whole. For the

Another 16 million euros

were the innovation partner for the most

first time ever, Miba Bearing Group is

went to research and

important engine and vehicle manu-

almost tied with Miba Sinter Group as far

development. The goal is

facturers in the world.

as sales volume is concerned.

very clear – to make our
company more competitive.”

Norbert Schrüfer:
At Miba Sinter Group we have been
successful in pushing new technologically
sophisticated products. We were able to
fully compensate for the sale of our
production site in Spain. Miba Friction
Group also reports stable growth, even
though the plant in Vráble, Slovakia, is still
in the startup phase.

Peter Mitterbauer

Introduction | Management Board
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How much was invested in

Wolfgang Litzlbauer:

Miba’s innovative capabilities?

Austria

continues

to

be

the

solid

foundation of our business activities. This

Introduction | Management Board
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Peter Mitterbauer:

is where Miba has its roots. But we also

We invested about 36 million euros in

invested substantial amounts in our

plants and equipment in the past year.

international locations. We are especially

Another 16 million euros went to research

proud of the newly opened plants in China

and development. The goal is very clear –

and Slovakia.

“Austria continues to be

to make our company more competitive.

the solid foundation of our

Due to our strong cash flow, we were able

business activities.

to finance all our investments out of our

To what extent is innovation a part of

This is where Miba

own capital resources.

your strategy for 2008-2009?

has its roots.”
Peter Mitterbauer:

Wolfgang Litzlbauer

How much have you invested in the

All our activities are focused on technology

Austrian production sites?

leadership. Because of this commitment,
we expect continued profitable growth in

Norbert Schrüfer:
Three

quarters

expenditures

all business segments. Given our research
of

were

our

total

capital

focus on more efficient, safer and more

to

expand

environmentally friendly vehicle technol-

used

capacity and production at our Austrian

ogies, Miba is in an excellent position.

sites. We accomplished an enormous
amount here in the past year.

Norbert Schrüfer:
In addition to technology leadership, we
are banking on niche markets to fuel

as insurance for the future. That is one

efforts away from less sophisticated

third more than before. Miba’s success is

products and in the direction of more and

due to our employees, who also achieved

more complex components. In this area

a great deal this past year. But I am also

we are a technology leader, and this is

grateful to our customers, suppliers and

where we can definitely stand out from

shareholders. Their confidence in our per-

the competition.

formance has had a key impact on our
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successful collaboration as a network.
“In addition to technology

Wolfgang Litzlbauer:
And we also want to grow beyond our

Norbert Schrüfer:

leadership, we are banking on

core

continually

We are also very serious about our

niche markets to fuel growth.

evaluating and investing in new business

responsibility to the environment and to

We are steering our development

ideas. One example is High Tech Coatings,

society. This past year we formed a

efforts away from less

a company that has specialized in the area

Corporate Social Responsibility team that

sophisticated products and

of innovative coating solutions.

is implementing previously defined proj-

in the direction of more and more

ects in direct consultation with the

complex components.”

Management Board.

Norbert Schrüfer

business.

We

are

Where will you place additional
emphasis in the coming year?

Wolfgang Litzlbauer:
Last but not least, we will continue to rely

Peter Mitterbauer:

on one of Miba’s obvious strengths:

In order to achieve our short-term growth

maintaining what has proved to be

objectives, we will hire about 200 new

effective and combining it with innovative

employees this year across the Group. In

features.

addition, we will take on 40 new trainees

Introduction | Management Board

growth. We are steering our development

The Management Board

DI DDr. h.c. Peter Mitterbauer

Dr.-Ing. Norbert Schrüfer

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Introduction | The Management Board
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Born in 1942

Born in 1959

1969: Joined the company founded by

1991: Joined Gildemeister Dreh-

his father in 1927; head of sales and

maschinen GmbH in Bielefeld, Germany

head of various affiliated companies
1996: Joined Miba Gleitlager AG as
1973: Joined the Management Board

Chief Operations Officer (COO)

Since 1986: Chairman of the

2001: Chairman and CEO of

Management Board of Miba AG

Miba Gleitlager AG, member of the
Management Board of Miba AG

Executive officer responsible for finance
(since February 1, 2008), controlling,

2004: CEO of Miba Sinter Group

human resources and communication
Since 2008: CEO of Miba Friction Group

Executive officer responsible for Miba
Sinter Group, Miba Friction Group
(since February 1, 2008) and information
technology; chairman of the Miba
Technology Advisory Board

Dr. Wolfgang Litzlbauer

As of January 31, 2008, the following
members retired from the
Management Board of Miba AG:

Born in 1969

(5er Bild)

KR Siegfried Dapoz
Chief Financial Officer

Institute for Trade, Sales and Marketing
(University of Graz)
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Ing. Alfred Hörtenhuber
CEO of Miba Friction Group

1994: Joined Miba AG as assistant to the
Management Board

1996: Miba Gleitlager, aftermarket,
head of sales (NAFTA), product manager
(Caterpillar)

1999: Mahle Metal Leve Miba Sinterizados
Ltda., Brazil, commercial managing director

Since 2004: CEO of Miba Bearing Group,
member of the Management Board of
Miba AG

Executive officer responsible for Miba
Bearing Group and purchasing, chairman
of the Miba Marketing Advisory Board

Introduction | The Management Board

1992: University instructor,

The Supervisory Board

Elected members

Dr. Theresa Jordis (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
independent, commercial attorney, Dorda Brugger Jordis Rechtsanwälte GmbH, first
elected on July 9, 1993; Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG since 2005, with
term ending at the 2008 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting; member of the Financial Audit

Introduction | The Supervisory Board
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Committee; positions on other supervisory boards: Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG (Chair),
Wolford AG (Chair), Prinzhorn Holding GmbH (Chair), Erste Bank der österreichischen
Sparkassen AG

Dipl. Bw. Alfred Heinzel (Deputy Chairman)
independent, CEO of Heinzel Holding GmbH, first elected on July 4, 2003; Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG since 2005, with term ending at the 2008
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting; member of the Financial Audit Committee; positions on
other supervisory boards: Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG, Allianz Elementar Versicherungs
AG, Österreichische Elektrizitätswirtschafts AG, Wilfried Heinzel AG, Zellstoff Pöls AG,
Biocel Paskov a.s., A.S. Estonian Cell, Generalrat der Oesterreichischen Nationalbank

Dr. Robert Büchelhofer
independent, former member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG, first
elected on July 4, 2003; member of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG, with term ending
at the 2008 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting; positions on other advisory boards:
Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG, Generali Holding Vienna AG, Polytec Holding AG,
M-Tech Technologie und Beteiligungs AG, Swarco Holding AG, Austrian Airlines
Österreichische Luftverkehrs AG

DDr. Robert Ehrlich
independent, Managing Partner of PC Electric GmbH, first elected on July 12, 1991;
Member of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG, term ends at the 2009 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting; positions on other supervisory boards: Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG,
Berndorf AG, Sattler AG

Hermann Aigner
Member of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG since 1994

Hermann Biesl
Member of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG since 1997,
member of the Financial Audit Committee

Introduction | The Supervisory Board
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Delegated members

Corporate Governance

The Austrian Code of Corporate Governance has been in effect since October 2002 and was
revised last year in accordance with the EU Transparency Directive. It provides the appropriate
framework for transparent and responsible corporate management. Its primary principles are
equal treatment of all shareholders, independence of the Supervisory Board, and efficient
control and oversight by the Supervisory Board and the auditors.
Miba’s business policies are based on these principles. Our vision, mission and strategy are

Introduction | Corporate Governance
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based on a sustainable long-term perspective and are communicated to all shareholders. Miba
not only pledges to comply with the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance but also
undergoes an annual evaluation by an external auditor. The auditor confirms that Miba
complies with all the binding rules in category L (legal requirements) and with the rules in
category C (comply or explain) – with the following exceptions:
C Rule 2 (One Share, One Vote):
Miba’s share capital is divided into 1.3 million no-par-value shares, 130,000 of which are nonvoting preferred shares convertible to common shares in return for relinquishment of
preferential rights and 300,000 of which are non-voting preferred shares that are not
convertible to common shares.
C Rule 18 (Internal Auditing):
Internal auditing is not set up as a separate staff unit nor is it outsourced to an external firm
or institution. Because of the size and structure of the company, these responsibilities are
assumed by Controlling. Periodic and ad hoc reporting (where applicable) is handled by
Controlling.
C Rule 27 (Compensation of Management Board Members):
The Management Board members responsible for operational areas shall receive a
performance-linked compensation component. The objective of the compensation system for
Board members is to adequately compensate the Board members in accordance with their
scope of activities and responsibilities and in line with domestic and international

compensation packages. A significant part of this compensation is a high variable component
based on the company’s results. The annual bonus is a variable cash payment, the value of
which is based on reaching results-oriented targets and individual objectives.
C Rule 34 (Internal Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board):
Due to its size, the Supervisory Board does not have internal rules of procedure but is required
to comply with general responsibilities. The disclosure and reporting obligations of the

C Rule 38 (Age Limit for Members of the Management Board):
The Articles of Incorporation of Miba Aktiengesellschaft do not provide for an age limit for
members of the Management Board. The composition of the Management Board is based
solely on professional and personal qualifications.
C Rule 39 (Supervisory Board Committees):
The Supervisory Board of Miba AG shall form individual committees, depending on need and
circumstances. Due to the size of the Board, these committees may consist of all members
of the Supervisory Board of Miba AG.
C Rule 53 (Independent Supervisory Board Members):
No criteria have been established regarding independence of Supervisory Board members.
C Rule 57 (Supervisory Board Mandates and Age Limit for Supervisory Board
Members):
The Chairman of the Management Board serves on six supervisory boards of stock
corporations outside the Miba Group. With regard to the recommended age limit for
Supervisory Board members, Miba AG always gives priority to candidates’ qualifications over
any age limit.
The audited questionnaire and other information regarding the Austrian Code of Corporate
Governance are accessible to all interested parties at the Miba website www.miba.com.

27
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Management Board are defined in the internal rules of procedure of the Management Board.
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The Miba Share

Miba’s positive development in fiscal year 2007-2008 was only partially reflected in the
performance of the Miba share. After a rapid rise in price from March to July 2007 to an
all-time high of 146 euros, an increase of more than 40 percent, Miba shares experienced
a sideways trend until October. In the wake of the global financial crisis, shares continued
to perform well but were unable to completely escape the overall market trend. The
share price as of the balance sheet date (January 31, 2008) was 119.10 euros, which

Management Report | The Miba Share
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represents a 14 percent increase in value in fiscal year 2007-2008. Miba shares
performed much better than the reference index (WBI).

With a price-earnings ratio of 8.96 (as of January 31, 2008), Miba stock continues to be
attractively rated. Earnings per share at the end of the business year totaled 13.29 euros.

Share buyback plan

In its meeting on July 14, 2007, the Management Board of Miba Aktiengesellschaft
decided to take advantage of the General Meeting’s authorization to buy back company
shares and to purchase up to 15,000 Miba Category B preferred shares on the stock
market. On February 19, 2008, the Management Board decided to expand the stock
buyback program to include 30,000 Miba Category B preferred shares. The deadline for
the repurchase program is July 31, 2008. The buyback price ranges between 80 euros
and 180 euros. The intended repurchase volume is the equivalent of about 2.30 percent
of share capital.

An up-to-date overview of the current share repurchase plan is available to all interested
parties at the company website www.miba.com. As of the balance sheet date (January
31, 2008) a total of 10,342 shares had been repurchased at an average price of
127.22 euros per share. This represents about 0.8 percent of share capital.

Miba’s share capital totals 9.5 million euros and is divided into 1.3 million no-par-value

130,000 preferred shares (Issue A) and 300,000 preferred shares (Issue B). The preferred
Issue A shares do not carry any voting rights but are convertible to common shares upon
relinquishment of preferential rights. The preferred Issue B shares do not carry voting rights
and are not convertible to common shares. Mitterbauer Beteiligungs Aktiengesellschaft
holds 76.92 percent of the shares. Institutional and private investors own 22.28 percent.
Miba AG holds 0.8 percent of the share capital in the form of treasury stock.

2007-2008 dividend

The Management Board of Miba AG will propose a dividend of 3.30 euros per common
and preferred share to the General Meeting on June 27, 2008. Based on a reporting date
rate (as of January 31, 2008) of 119.10 euros, this represents a dividend yield of 2.8 percent. With its dividend policy, Miba offers shareholders a fair minimum return on their
invested capital and at the same time ensures that the company’s growth can continue
to be financed out of its own capital resources.

31
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shares. The no-par-value stock is broken down into 870,000 common shares,

Miba’s Chief Financial Officer for many years, KR Siegfried Dapoz, retired at the end of
fiscal year 2007-2008. The new head of finance is Mag. Hannes Moser. The executive
officer responsible for financial matters since February 1, 2008, has been DI DDr. h.c.
Peter Mitterbauer, who continues to serve as Chairman of the Management Board and
CEO.

Development of the Miba share during the business year 2007-08
ISIN: AT0000734835

150

Stock exchange:
Vienna Stock Exchange

140

Standard Market Auction
Stock symbol: MBV
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General Economic Setting

The global economy experienced significant growth in 2007. The International Monetary
Fund (IMF) calculated a 4.9 percent increase over the previous year. However, this
positive development was adversely affected in the second half of the year by rising
prices for raw materials and energy, the crisis in the U.S. real estate market, and the
resulting turmoil in the international financial markets.

and India, a major factor. China, for example, again recorded double-digit growth in the
past year totaling 11.4 percent. The European economy, which is very much exportbased, showed robust growth in spite of adverse conditions – especially the weak U.S.
dollar. It posted 2.6 percent growth, only slightly below the previous year’s figure of
2.9 percent. Economic growth in the United States was 2.2 percent in 2007 and for the
first time in more than 15 years lagged behind growth in the euro zone.

Sectoral growth

The automotive industry was also shaped by the economic momentum and recorded
encouraging growth in 2007-2008. Global production of passenger cars and light trucks
increased by five percent to 69 million units. Growth was primarily due to production
increases in Asia and Eastern Europe. Production figures for Western Europe and the
United States were only slightly above the previous year’s level.

The continuing high demand for transport capacity helped the market segment for heavyduty commercial vehicles (six tons or more) grow by another four percent to 2.9 million
units. As a result of strong investment activity in preparation for the Olympic Games,

33
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The upward trend worldwide was also shaped in 2007 by the high growth rates in China

China established itself as the leading global manufacturer of commercial vehicles with
more than 800,000 units produced. Driven by the strong demand for commercial vehicles
in Central and Eastern Europe, many European vehicle manufacturers were operating at
near-full capacity. This trend will most likely continue in 2008.

Manufacturers of agricultural machinery benefited in the past year from the rising

Management Report | General Economic Setting
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demand for agricultural products, which was driven by high commodity prices. Tractor
production jumped by seven percent to 670,000 units worldwide. The construction
machinery industry posted comparable dynamic growth, with production increasing by
six percent to 470,000 units.

Performance Analysis
and Balance Sheet

Sales and earnings position

Miba, a strategic partner to the international engine and automotive industry, continued
its profitable growth in 2007-2008. It benefited from dynamic growth in its specific
markets (ranging from passenger cars to commercial vehicles to ships) and from the
great demand for its technology in these core segments. In the 2007-2008 business year,
Miba generated group sales totaling 387.7 million euros. This represents a 17.5 percent

resulting from disposal of plants.
Sales volume by
Miba Sinter Group again accounted for the largest sales percentage – 41.1 percent. Sales

business segment

of Miba Sinter Group grew steadily in fiscal year 2007-2008 and totaled 159.3 million
euros. After adjustment for the sales loss resulting from the disposal of sintering plants
in Spain and Italy, Miba Sinter Group posted 31 percent organic growth.

Miba Friction Group
17.7%
Others
0.9%

Sales at Miba Bearing Group rose by almost ten percent over the previous year to
156.3 million euros, a new sales record. This business unit accounted for 40.3 percent of
group sales.

Miba Friction Group also increased sales volume, boosting it by ten percent to
68.6 million euros, which represented 17.7 percent of consolidated sales.

The remaining 0.9 percent of group sales (3.4 million euros) was generated by High Tech
Coatings (HTC). This new fully-owned subsidiary of Miba AG specializes in innovative
coating solutions. It has about 30 employees at its plants in Vorchdorf and Niklasdorf,
Austria.

Miba Bearing Group
40.3%
Miba Sinter Group
41.1%
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increase over the previous year in comparable terms – after adjustment for the sales loss

Sales volume according

Miba expanded its international activities in the past business year by constructing two

to markets

new production facilities in Suzhou, China, and Vráble, Slovakia, and is now represented
in the most important business centers of the world. Miba’s largest sales market is

NAFTA
18%

Asia Others
11% 4%

Europe, which accounts for 67 percent of group sales. The NAFTA region (and the United
States in particular) accounts for almost one fifth (18 percent) of Miba’s sales. Miba saw
its greatest increases in the past fiscal year in Asia, where 11 percent of total sales were
generated. This represents an increase over the previous year of 33.4 percent or about
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ten million euros. Miba’s focus on the Far East will continue to grow, as underscored by
the opening of the Miba production facility for sintered components and bearings near
Shanghai.

In spite of the startup of two new plants and continuing high material and energy prices,
sales growth contributed fully to earnings. EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) rose
EU
67%

by 24.5 percent to 27.6 million euros, increasing by an even greater percentage than
sales. These figures take into account final consolidation of the Spanish subsidiary Miba
Sinter Spain S.A. (now Sintermetal S.A.) as of August 1, 2007. EBT (earnings before
taxes) rose from 15.5 million to 24.6 million euros. Earnings after taxes grew to
17.3 million euros (previous year: 11.8 million euros). The significant increase in earnings
is primarily due to new product launches in the past business year.

Financial position

The balance sheet total rose only slightly – to 330.9 million from 326.8 million euros – in
spite of the increase in sales. Trade receivables and other receivables declined in the
period under review by 4.3 million euros. Cash and cash equivalents, on the other hand,
were up by 7.5 million euros as of the balance sheet date.

as in the previous year. Investments in intangible assets and tangible fixed assets totaled
36.0 million euros. Of this amount, 26.9 million euros was invested in the Austrian sites.
Due to these investments, the asset coverage ratio (ratio of share capital or net worth to
total assets) increased from 96 percent in the previous year to 100 percent in 2007-2008.

Group equity, including shares of outside shareholders, increased by 3.1 percent or
5.3 million euros to 177.7 million euros (compared with 172.4 million euros in the
previous year). The increase in equity was the result of consolidated net income totaling
17.3 million euros, which compensated for dividend payments of 3.6 million euros,
currency translation losses of 6.3 million euros, and other changes included directly in
equity totaling -0.8 million euros. Treasury shares valued at 1.3 million euros were
included directly in equity. Miba’s capital ratio increased to 53.7 percent from
52.8 percent, reflecting Miba’s solid capital structure.
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At 54 percent, non-current assets as a percentage of total assets were at the same level

Cash flow from operations rose to 52.3 million euros, up from 38.8 million euros a year
earlier. This is essentially due to the increase in operating income. This meant that the
high level of investment could be fully financed out of the company’s own capital
resources.

Liquid assets, consisting of cash balances and short-term funds, increased to 22.6 million

Management Report | Performance Analysis

38

from 15.1 million euros. Net indebtedness was reduced in 2007-2008 by 13.9 million
euros and totaled 19.7 million euros on the balance sheet date.

in EUR million

2007-08

2006-07

Sales

387.7

366.5

EBT

24.6

15.5

Cash flow from operations

52.3

38.8

Shareholder’s equity as % of total capital

53.7

52.8

Changes in
Miba Corporate Structure

The 21st Annual General Meeting of Miba AG on July 6, 2007, passed a resolution
authorizing the Management Board, under Sec. 65 (1) No. 8 and Sec. 65 (1a) and (1b) of
the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), to purchase company shares
(preferred Category B shares) totaling no more than ten percent of the company’s share
capital over a period of 18 months from the date of the adoption of the resolution.

implement a share buyback plan for 15,000 preferred Category B shares. The
Management Board of Miba AG decided on February 19, 2008, to expand the share
buyback program to include a total of 30,000 preferred Category B shares. As of the
balance sheet date of January 31, 2008, Miba AG held 10,342 treasury shares.

The Spanish company Miba Sinter Spain S.A. (now called Sintermetal S.A.) was sold
effective August 1, 2007.

Miba AG transferred its 100 percent capital share in Miba Frictec GmbH Laakirchen to
Miba Friction Holding GmbH, with retroactive effect to April 30, 2007. The transfer was
based on Article III of the Austrian Corporate Restructuring Tax Act (Umgründungssteuergesetz or UmgrStG) by waiving the right to grant shares under Sec. 19 (2) No. 5 of
the same law. Miba Frictec Beteiligungs-GmbH (the transferring company) was then
transferred on April 30, 2007, to Miba Friction Holding GmbH (the acquiring company)
through universal succession by means of a merger of one company with another.

Since December 31, 2007, the English companies Tyzack Ltd., WA Tyzack Ltd.,
Tyzack Turner Ltd. and Miba (UK) Ltd. (all based in Sheffield in the UK) have been in the
process of voluntary liquidation.
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The Management Board of Miba AG resolved in its meeting on July 14, 2007, to

Information as Required under
Sec. 243a UGB

Sec. 243a No. 1 UGB
The share capital of Miba AG totals 9,500,000 euros. The share capital is divided into
1,300,000 no-par-value shares. This total includes 870,000 common shares (66.92% of
share capital), 130,000 non-voting preferred shares convertible to common shares by
relinquishment of preferential rights (10% of share capital) and 300,000 non-voting nonconvertible preferred shares (23.08% of share capital). A stock certificate having a
nominal amount of 7.27 euros shall be considered the stock certificate for one no-par-
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value share. Each voting share shall entitle the holder to one vote at the Annual Meeting.
As of January 31, 2008, Miba AG held treasury stock totaling 10,342 shares (compared
with 0 the previous year).

Sec. 243a No. 2 UGB
Miba AG is not aware of any limitations or restrictions on voting rights and their transfer,
including limitations based on agreements between shareholders, other than those
relating to preferred shares.

Sec. 243a No. 3 UGB
As of January 31, 2008, Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG had a 76.92% directly held interest
in Miba AG.
The publicly held portion of Miba shares totaled 22.28 percent. As of the balance sheet
UGB: Unternehmens-

date, Miba AG held treasury stock totaling 0.8 percent of share capital.

gesetzbuch,
Austrian Business

Sec. 243a No. 4 UGB

Enterprise Code

There are no Miba shares with special rights of control.

Sec. 243a No. 5 UGB
There are no employee profit-sharing plans in the Miba Group.

Sec. 243a No. 6 UGB
There are no articles of incorporation that contain provisions that go beyond the legal
regulations governing either nomination and appointment of members of the

incorporation.

Sec. 243a No. 7 UGB
As of January 31, 2008, the Management Board of Miba AG had no authority to issue or
repurchase shares of Miba AG that went beyond the scope of the law.

Sec. 243a No. 8 UGB
The 76.92% interest held by Mitterbauer Beteiligungs AG precludes any change in
control based on publicly held shares.

Sec. 243a No. 9 UGB
Because of the previous paragraph, no compensation agreements exist between
Miba AG and the members of its Management Board and Supervisory Board relating to
public takeover offers.

Branches
No branches were maintained in the period under review.
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Management Board and Supervisory Board or amendments to the articles of

Risk Report

As an international company, Miba serves different industrial markets and customers.
Miba is therefore exposed to general and industry-specific risks in its daily business
activities.

These risks are controlled by existing risk management solutions and associated risk
management tools. The main task is to recognize risks early on as they develop in order
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to facilitate rapid and effective countermeasures.

The Management Board bears overall responsibility for risk management. It is briefed on
the risk situation at regular intervals by Corporate Controlling. Risk management is further
integrated into the management structure via the planning system and detailed reporting
and information systems based on appropriately assigned competencies.

Significant risks and uncertainties
The following risks have been identified as significant risks for Miba AG (partial list):

Economic risks
Due to Miba’s strong presence in the euro zone, a weakening of economic activity in the
European Union would have a negative impact on the company. Other risks include the
continuing increases in energy and raw material costs. A significant share of Miba’s sales
volume is generated in dealings with customers whose business development is volatile
depending on market conditions. This group includes the automotive industry, in
particular. Sustained declining sales may have a negative impact on the company’s
market coverage.

Competitive and portfolio risks
Miba’s long-term strategy aims to reduce its dependence on the automotive sector. The
competitive situation in this industry has been tense for a long time. Miba is meeting this
challenge with innovative products and ongoing process optimization in order to be able
to price our products in line with the market.

Miba operates a uniform and consistent quality management system throughout the
entire Group. Despite its systematic and efficient design, liability cases cannot be ruled
out entirely. The remaining risk, which can lead primarily to financial loss, is covered by
insurance policies.

Human resources risks
Consistent human resources development and a performance-linked wage and salary
system are key tools for keeping qualified and motivated employees in the company.
Programs for executive development (Miba Management Academy and Miba Leadership
Academy) guarantee the preservation and expansion of staff expertise. Potential for
improvement is identified through periodic employee surveys (the next survey will be
conducted in 2008-2009).

Financial risks
Miba’s credit standing and its ability to maintain and ensure liquidity is of key importance
to the corporation. Miba limits risks through a credit risk system and covers any
remaining risk involving loss on receivables largely through credit risk insurance policies.
In addition to conventional forward transactions, derivatives are used to limit and control
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Product and quality risks

interest rate and currency risks. The U.S. dollar zone is particularly affected by currency
risks. Please see the notes to the financial statements for a detailed list.

Risk of damage
The assets of the individual companies are insured through uniform group policies.
Furthermore, damage arising from business interruptions caused by natural disasters is
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also covered. In addition to these insurance policies, group-wide liability insurance and
transportation insurance policies adequately cover any remaining risks.

Overall risk
At present and for the foreseeable future, there are no identifiable individual risks that
could have a significant impact on company earnings or pose a threat to the continued
existence of the company.

Research & Development

Technology leadership is a key element of the Miba success strategy and forms the basis
for profitable growth of the Miba Group. Miba focuses on the needs of its customers,
who demand high-tech solutions at competitive prices. The trend in development is
toward increasingly more multifunctional and powerful components. Because of Miba’s
clear focus on research and development, its products are market leaders. Supported by
a comprehensive network of development partners, Miba is in a position to continually

In the 2007-2008 business year, Miba invested a total of 16 million euros in research and
development. This represents a research ratio of approximately four percent of the total
sales volume. A total of 135 employees worked in this area throughout the Miba Group,
although technology activities were concentrated at the four Austrian sites. The number
of patents filed increased by 22 percent in the past fiscal year.

A leader in surface-densified sintered gears

Because of its technological edge, Miba is the only manufacturer of surface-densified
sintered gears and modules on a production scale in Europe today. Key development
priorities in 2007-2008 included the systematic development of the Miba surface
densification technology called Densgrad® and the development of new densification
processes for the manufacture of highly stressed, quiet and at the same time weightoptimized gears for passenger car engines.
The new Miba Denscomp® press technology was introduced in standard production for
the manufacture of sintered bearing caps in modern passenger car diesel engines. It
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expand its expertise.

makes it possible to achieve maximum component strength economically and with high
precision even with complex geometries.

In the area of manual transmissions, customers increasingly demand reduced installation
space and improved shifting comfort. In order to meet these demands, Miba has
developed a concept for more efficient synchronization.
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The customers of Miba Sinter Group are benefiting from the new technologies because
of Miba’s economical manufacturing methods. At the same time, there are definite
benefits as regards smooth and quiet operation, enhanced performance, reduction of
vehicle weight and thus better fuel economy combined with increased driving comfort.

Heavy-duty lead-free bearings for truck and high-performance engines

In 2007-2008 Miba Bearing Group focused its research on heavy-duty, lead-free bearing
types and improved electroplated and synthetic overlays. It developed Type 69, for
example, a lead-free sputter bearing with a SYNTHEC run-in coating that is currently the
heaviest-duty bearing for truck and high-performance engines. After its successful
market launch, it is already on its way to becoming the leading product in its category.

The most prominent engine and automotive manufacturers throughout the world are
benefiting from rapid and goal-oriented engine development in partnership with Miba.

The new generation of Miba bearings makes it possible to comply with all statutory
environmental regulations due to their greater load-bearing capacity and the lower
operating risk. The lead-free bearing types contribute to environmental protection. By
systematically developing bearings based on trend analyses, Miba will also be able to
supply its customers in the future with optimum bearings for their engines.

One focus of R&D activities in Miba Friction Group in 2007-2008 was on the railroad
sector where a railroad brake pad that did not contain non-ferrous heavy metals was
under development. It offers a higher degree of environmental compatibility and costs far
less than standard copper pads. In addition, a high-performance railroad brake pad was
successfully developed that has higher degree of stability in its friction coefficient and
also higher wear resistance, even with maximum loads such as during emergency
braking of a high-speed train.

Another area of application for highly loaded friction materials are brakes for go-karts,
where Miba pads were used for the first time last year in standard production.
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Copper-free brake pads for railroad cars

Employees

Employees are the pillar of Miba’s success and make an important contribution to the
company’s growth. Miba employees invest their knowledge, ideas and dedicated effort
in our company. In return, they are given challenging assignments in an international
environment. The company offers comprehensive opportunities for learning and
developing new skills. Investments in employee training and continuing education and
responsibility to our colleagues at all locations form the basis for the “human capital”
(HC) concept. In order to support further internationalization of Miba, intensive efforts
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were made in 2007-2008 to expand professional company-wide HC structures and to
Employees by region

introduce new shift and wage models as well as attractive salary structures.

(as at January 31, 2008)
Miba had an average of 2,706 employees at eleven sites around the world in 2007-2008.
Slovakia
717

USA China
305
76

The previous year Miba had 2,850 employees. The change is due in part to the sale of
the sintering plant in Spain, which had 380 employees. But on the other side of the scale
there was a buildup of personnel at the new plants and capacity expansion measures,
primarily at the Austrian sites. As of the reporting date on January 31, 2008, the
headcount totaled 2,730. In addition, the company had 190 temporary workers.

About seven percent of Miba’s employees are college or university graduates and
20 percent are women. The average Miba employee is 37 years old and has been with
the company about ten years. Personnel expenses in the past business year declined to
Austria
1,609

Singapore
23

121.4 million from 125.1 million euros.

Life-Long Learning as a core value

Human Capital Management is based on the Miba core value of Life-Long Learning. It
formed the basis in 2007-2008 for focusing on increasing international employee
exchanges and professionalizing leadership through intensive and up-to-date executive
development. Miba managers are role models in the company and are committed to the

Delegating Responsibility, Respect, Courage and the Miba Spirit.

The employee review (an annual performance review) is one of the most important tools
in human capital development and serves the twin goals of employee management and
employee development. The employee review was expanded during the past business
year in order to integrate the Miba Leadership Principles into the review and thus to
obtain direct feedback on leadership styles and approaches.

Miba places great value on sustainable human capital development, and this is also
manifested in the above-average commitment and involvement of management.
Expenses for vocational and advanced training amounted to an average of approximately
370 euros per employee in the past business year. For many years we have placed
special emphasis on both custom-tailored development activities and on national and
international management development programs.

One of these programs is the Miba Management Academy, which was optimized and
restructured in 2007-2008 to be even more goal-oriented. Building on solid knowledge of
business administration principles, the goal of the Miba Management Academy is to
develop the participants’ ability to think and act as entrepreneurs (Entrepreneurship).
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following Leadership Principles: Performance Commitment, Execution, Integrity,

Strong in apprentice training

Systematic efforts to make sure the company has a new generation of employees are
extremely important. As the largest vocational training operation in the region, Miba hires
about 25 young men and women each year at its Austrian sites in Laakirchen, Vorchdorf
and Roitham to participate in a dual program that links on-the-job training with part-time
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schooling. Miba also offers especially talented apprentices the opportunity to combine
the apprenticeship with a higher technical college degree or study at a university of
applied sciences. As of January 31, 2008, Miba had 78 apprentices training to become
production technicians and electrical engineering technicians.

Plans for 200 new jobs

In order to guarantee that Miba will continue to grow, 200 new employees will be hired
in the current fiscal year. In addition, 40 apprentices will begin their training at the
company in the fall. The focus of Human Capital Management in 2008-2009 will be to
expand advanced training and continuing education activities and to professionalize
qualification management. A big priority is to increase Miba’s staff in high-tech labor
markets.

Sustainability

Miba assumes responsibility for its economic success, its employees, the environment
and society. The principles of sustainability are part of Miba’s corporate strategy. As an
owner-managed company, Miba pursues a long-term value-based and profit-oriented
investment and growth strategy. Only successful companies that make a profit have the
power to steadily increase enterprise value and to provide job security. Economic
success is the basic condition for investing in employees and society and for protecting

Core team drives Corporate Social Responsibility process

Miba re-established the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) process in 2007-2008. The
goal of the process is to anchor sustainability in the company and the entire value chain
and to network CSR activities within the Miba Group. An important step this last year was
the formation of a core team consisting of employees from different areas and locations.
This core team initiates and implements projects that will benefit employees, the
environment and the region.

Attractive employer for motivated employees

Committed individuals are Miba’s most important success factor. We want to acquire,
maintain and support the best workforce. In a performance-based environment, we offer
prospects and development opportunities as well as job security for our more than
2,700 employees.
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the environment.

Employee health is important to Miba. The crucial factor for maintaining good health lies
with the employees themselves, however. In order to provide continuing momentum for
raising health awareness, Miba launched a program in December 2007 called “Fit at
work. Fit for life.” The program will begin in 2008-2009 and will be introduced at the
Austrian sites in the first phase. It will involve three main components – nutrition,
exercise and work-life balance – and specific programs will be implemented in these
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areas.

At the U.S. plant in McConnelsville, Ohio, a health project entitled “WeightWatchers@
Work” was continued. Employees and their families can participate in the project, which
is designed to promote permanent weight loss. The 12-week program encourages
participants to focus on nutrition and a healthy lifestyle. Weight loss has actually
improved the participants’ quality of life, and this change is also noticeable in the
company.

Excellent environmental protection

Responsible resource management safeguards the basis of life for future generations. In
the past year, the company environmental program focused on optimization of resource
utilization and the use of environmentally compatible materials. Among the numerous
activities at all Miba locations, two initiatives received special awards.

A project that was given the “Energy Star” environmental award by the state of Upper
Austria proves that economic interests and environmental concerns can go hand in hand.
The Miba plant in Laakirchen installed a heating and cooling system that achieves a very

high level of resource optimization. The efficiently designed system saves as much energy
as is consumed annually by 600 households. These savings can supply 1,500 single-family
homes with water and 85 single-family homes with heat for an entire year.

Environmental protection is an innovation factor at Miba, as shown by an initiative at
Miba’s Vorchdorf site. The Miba subsidiary in Vorchdorf was the first company in Austria

treatment of its cooling system. Using this innovative process, the facility cleans its
cooling water with ultrasonic waves instead of with biocides, which are environmental
pollutants. This represents savings of 1.6 tons of chemicals per year. At the same time,
the process increases the efficiency of the cooling system by eight percent and reduces
energy consumption at the Vorchdorf facility by 350,000 kWh annually. This is equivalent
to the annual consumption of 70 households. The Vorchdorf site received the state of
Upper Austria’s award for environment and nature.

Strengthening the local economy through regional awareness

At all its sites, Miba makes important contributions to economic growth and social
stability. The company supports the economy of the surrounding regions through capital
investment, taxes and social security contributions, helping to guarantee jobs and
maintain infrastructure. One example of this support is the construction of the new
building for the Miba subsidiary High Tech Coatings in Vorchdorf, which was completed
in January 2008. This capital project, which cost four million euros, specifically involved
local businesses. Most suppliers – 85 percent – are located within a 30-kilometer radius.
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to use a chemical-free process based on ultrasonic technology for the microbiological

Miba Products

Sintered Components
Miba sintered components are high-precision and high-strength components used in car
engines, transmissions, steering systems, brakes and shock absorbers. Miba is the
technology leader in the production of a wide range of sintered components and has
been a partner to the European automotive industry for decades.
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Engine Bearings
Miba engine bearings play an important role in determining an internal combustion
engine's functioning and working life. They are used for diesel and gas engines in ships,
heavy-duty vehicles, locomotives and power stations. In the medium-speed diesel engine
segment, Miba is the global market and technology leader.

Friction Materials
Miba friction materials are decisive performance elements in clutches and brakes. They
are used in tractors, trucks, construction machinery, high-speed trains, motorcycles,
airplanes and wind power stations.

Coatings
High Tech Coatings GmbH (HTC) specializes in innovative coating solutions. HTC's core
technologies include low-friction coatings for functional surfaces, electroplated overlays
and PVD coatings.

Miba Sinter Group

The past year was a year of unexpectedly strong growth for the European automotive
industry, the primary market for Miba Sinter Group. Vehicle production in 2007, totaling
just under 22 million passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, was six percent
higher than in 2006. This is due to the expansion of production capacities at plants in
Central and Eastern Europe, from the Czech Republic to Poland and from Slovakia and
Hungary to Romania.

equaling more or less the previous year’s level (160 million euros). This corresponds to
41.1 percent of the total Miba Group sales volume. After adjustment for the sales loss
resulting from the disposal of sinter plants in Spain and Italy, Miba Sinter Group posted a
sales increase of 31 percent. Growth therefore significantly surpassed market growth.
This was due to technologically sophisticated new projects in the area of sintered
camshaft gears or highly stressed components for double-clutch transmissions such as
synchronizer hubs and dog rings – products that went into standard production in the past
fiscal year. The increased focus on high-tech products brought about an improvement in
earnings quality. EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)
totaled 7.1 million euros in the past fiscal year and was significantly reduced by the sale
of the production site in Spain.
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Miba Sinter Group generated 159.3 million euros in sales in the 2007-2008 business year,

Spanish site sold

Effective August 1, 2007, Miba sold its subsidiary Miba Sinter Spain S.A. (now called
Sintermetal S.A.), which was based in Ripollet, Spain. With this sale, Miba Sinter Group
implemented its new production site concept, which is designed to support a global
customer supply system, and also underscored its clear strategic orientation toward high-
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tech products.

By reducing the number of production sites, Miba Sinter Group was able to raise its high
productivity and quality level even further. It invested almost 19 million euros for this
purpose in the past year.

A total of 14 million euros was invested in the purchase of new equipment to expand
capacity at the high-tech site in Vorchdorf, Austria, the largest European production
facility for sintered components. This site alone posted sales growth of 21 percent in the
past fiscal year. The Slovakian facility for sintered components in Dolny’ Kubín, which
optimized its product portfolio to focus on high-tech products after acquiring the
neighboring Metalsint plant, also expanded significantly.

Miba’s first production facility in China, Miba Precision Components China (MPCC), went
into operation in 2007-2008. The newly constructed plant produces both sintered
components and bearings. In the area of sintered components, standard production of
engine parts was started up in the past fiscal year.

There were changes in Miba Sinter Group management in the past year. Harald Neubert,
who served initially as the company’s Chief Technical Officer (CTO), took over executive
management of the Sinter Group on February 1, 2008. He succeeds Norbert Schrüfer,
who became CEO of Miba Friction Group.

Growth from new business

The European automotive industry is expected to weaken in the 2008-2009 business year
as the result of general economic conditions. Nonetheless, Miba Sinter Group is counting
on a slight increase in sales – after adjustment for loss of sales due to disposal of the site
in Spain. At the same time it expects that the high cost and price pressure on automotive
suppliers will continue. Miba Sinter Group is equipped for the challenges in this dynamic
market environment and in the past year developed Strategy 2012, which involves a
systematic orientation to technology and market leadership in selected product segments.

Sales in EUR million
Investments (excluding financial assets)
in EUR million
Employees (yearly average)

2007-08

2006-07

159.3

160.0

18.9

15.1

1,180

1,415
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Miba Bearing Group

Miba Bearing Group benefited in the past business year from continuing high demand –
particularly from the Far East – and was able to continue its dynamic growth. New orders
reached record levels in important target segments such as commercial vehicles and
ships. Fiscal year 2007-2008 closed with a new sales record of 156.3 million euros. This
corresponds to an increase of almost ten percent compared with the previous year. Miba
Bearing Group accounted for 40.3 percent of Miba’s total sales volume and for the first
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time was virtually tied with Miba Sinter Group. EBITDA in the same period remained at a
high level at 38.9 million euros.

Miba Bearing Group’s biggest production site in Laakirchen, Austria, posted growth of ten
percent in 2007-2008. In order to meet higher customer demand efficiently, 10 million
euros was invested in significant expansion of the production area and purchase of new
equipment. Miba Bearing Group is therefore well prepared for further growth, especially
in its new core business – truck bearings. Miba Automation Systems (MAS), a systems
engineering company based in Laakirchen that is part of Miba Bearing Group, was able
to complete a number of major projects in the past year. A new market niche opened up
for MAS in the special machine-building area – mobile machine tools for high-precision
machining of large components such as cranes or turbines.

Worldwide growth

The demand for locomotive and compressor bearings reached a high level in 2007-2008,
especially in the United States. This resulted in full capacity utilization at the
McConnelsville, Ohio, site and a significant 22.6 percent sales increase compared with
the previous year. The development of new applications for gas turbines and special

compressors was very promising. The focus at the McConnelsville site was on enhancing
performance in the area of productivity and quality. This is also the basis for further capital
investment in the production of truck bearings at this location.

At the Suzhou site of the newly established company Miba Precision Components China
(MPCC), production focuses primarily on bearings for commercial vehicles. Local

Because of the dynamic market growth, expansion of capacities in the area of large
bearing production is being considered.

Technology and product leadership

The outlook for Miba Bearing Group continues to be optimistic. A high level of growth is
expected for 2008-2009. Planned investments will support capacity expansion and also
lay the groundwork for maintaining technology and product leadership over the long
term.

2007-08

2006-07

156.3

142.3

Investments (excluding financial assets)
in EUR million

11.9

9.8

Employees (yearly average)

905

849

Sales in EUR million
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production guarantees proximity to the major Chinese engine and vehicle producers.

Miba Friction Group

Increasing global demand in core markets, especially in the tractor and construction
machinery segments, characterized fiscal year 2007-2008 for Miba Friction Group. The
demand in the U.S. tractor market, in particular, increased significantly due to the rising
demand for agricultural products. Miba Friction Group also posted double-digit growth in
the area of brake applications for wind generators and high-speed trains and clutch
segments for the commercial vehicle sector. Miba Friction Group’s sales rose by about
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11 percent in the 2007-2008 business year to 68.6 million euros, accounting for
17.7 percent of total Miba sales. EBITDA jumped to 6.4 million euros from 1.3 million
euros during the reporting period because relocation of the new friction coating plant to
Vráble, Slovakia, made start-up costs unnecessary.

Due to the strong growth in incoming orders, all plants in Miba Friction Group
experienced high capacity utilization during the past year. Production was at an especially
high level during the entire year at the parent plant in Roitham, Austria, in order to meet
the strong customer demand. Sales at this location rose by almost 16 percent compared
with the previous year. Productivity was again increased as the result of systematic
development of production processes, and new production launches were successfully
carried out for a number of major customers.

Relocation completed

The relocation of steel disc production from Sheffield, England, to Vráble, Slovakia, was
successfully completed during the 2007-2008 business year. Operations were shut down
at the English site in November 2007. A competitive standard production operation was

set up at the new site in order to fill customer orders with maximum efficiency.
80 percent of Roitham’s steel disc requirements will be supplied by Vráble.

Miba Friction Group’s U.S. plant, Miba HydraMechanica in Sterling Heights, Michigan,
reported excellent performance. Sales (in U.S. dollars) have nearly tripled since 2003.
Growth was driven primarily by the automotive sector, which saw sharp sales increases

current fiscal year in order to adjust capacity accordingly.

Tense supply situation

Miba Friction Group is again counting on a growth in sales and further improvement of
earnings quality in fiscal year 2008-2009. Programs to increase efficiency and productivity
are being continued at all locations – in combination with a strategic restructuring of the
product portfolio. The supply situation in the international commodity markets remains
tense, especially in the steel market.

2007-08

2006-07

68.6

62.0

Investments (excluding financial assets)
in EUR million

4.0

5.3

Employees (yearly average)

530

500

Sales in EUR million
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in Asia, and by a major order in the U.S. tractor business. Investments are planned for the

Outlook

Restrained but optimistic

Economists are expecting global growth to slow down in 2008. Due to the turbulence in
international financial markets, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) has lowered its
growth forecast to 4.1 percent from the previous 4.8 percent. A flagging economy is
expected in the United States because of the volatile financial markets following the real
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estate crisis. The rise in the value of the single European currency has a dampening
effect on the export prospects and competitiveness of companies in the euro zone.
Economic growth in Asia, on the other hand, especially in China and India, continues
apace.

The mood in Miba’s target markets as regards 2008 is restrained but optimistic. The
production of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles will increase by about three
percent, according to forecasts. In the area of heavy commercial vehicles, analysts are
expecting worldwide growth of around five percent.

Miba’s order books at the beginning of fiscal year 2008-2009 do not yet indicate any
decline in demand. The Management Board is expecting the growth trend to continue in
fiscal year 2008-2009 although the rate of growth will not be as pronounced as in the past
year.

High prices for raw materials and energy, the strength of the euro vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar,
and the continuing price pressure in Miba’s core markets will have a major impact on
Miba’s competitive environment. Miba will meet these challenges by continuously
increasing productivity and fully utilizing machine capacities.

Extensive investments

In order to meet the rising demand for Miba technology efficiently, extensive
investments in plants and equipment are also planned for fiscal year 2008-2009 and will
total about 40 million euros. A major focus will be the United States, where about
15 million euros will be invested in the expansion of the existing bearing plant and in the

able to support its European customers as they launch new technologies in the U.S.
market.

Miba’s goal for 2008-2009 is to ensure that it continues to be a product and technology
leader in its core segments over the long term. With its research emphasis on more
efficient, safer and more environmentally friendly automotive technologies, Miba is fully
equipped to meet the latest customer demands.

Subsequent events

No events that would have a material affect on the financial statements have occurred
since the end of fiscal year 2007-2008.
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buildup of sintered components production. By making these investments, Miba will be
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Positioning

Vision
Miba is a successful independent company based in Austria with a presence in the
world's major economic centers. As a leading strategic partner to the international engine
and automotive industry, Miba is close to achieving its goal: No vehicle without Miba
technology.

Mission
Miba’s technology makes motor vehicles, trains, ships, aircraft and power stations more
efficient, safer and more environmentally friendly.

Values
Every employee is a part of the Miba family and is committed to the same values:
■ Technology Leadership
Through innovation, Miba is always one step ahead of the future. Our customers benefit
from individualized, cost-efficient solutions.
■ Entrepreneurship
Miba crosses borders in order to develop trend-setting technologies. Profitable growth
forms the basis for our success as an independent company.
■ Passion for Success
Miba spares no effort to reach the highest degree of efficiency, technical precision and
quality. Miba learns from its mistakes so that it will continue to improve every day.
■ Life-Long Learning
Miba is open to change and is committed to sharing knowledge and promoting ongoing
education and training.

Miba Italia

Miba Deutschland

Miba Gleitlager
Miba Sinter Austria
Miba Frictec
Miba Automation Systems
High Tech Coatings

Miba Sinter Slovakia
Miba Steeltec

ABM Advanced
Bearing Materials 1
Miba Bearings US

Miba HydraMechanica

Mahle Metal Leve
Miba Sinterizados 2
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Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Consolidated Income Statement
for Fiscal Year 2007-2008
including comparison with
the prior year’s figures

1. Sales revenue
2. Changes in inventory of finished goods
and work in process
3. Internally produced and capitalized assets
4. Operating result
5. Other operating income
(2)
6. Cost of materials and other purchased
manufacturing services
(3)
7. Personnel costs
(4)
8. Other operating expenses
(5)
9. Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)
10. Depreciation
(6)
11. Earnings before interest, taxes
and amortization of goodwill (EBITA)
12. Amortization of goodwill
(6)
13. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
14. Income and losses from investments
in associated companies
15. Net interest income
(7)
16. Other financial results
(8)
17. Financial results
18. Earnings before taxes (EBT)
19. Income taxes
(10)
20. Earnings after taxes (EAT)
Attributable to minority shareholders
Attributable to parent company shareholders
Weighted average of the number
of shares issued (in units)
Earnings per share in EUR
Diluted earnings per share in EUR =
Undiluted earnings per share in EUR
Planned or paid dividend per share in EUR

2007-2008
TEUR
387,717

2006-2007
TEUR
366,506

1,559
3,070
392,346
12,211

–1,986
2,975
367,495
8,418

–153,558
–121,397
–75,137

–140,546
–125,086
–61,835

54,465
–25,166

48,446
–25,786

29,299
–1,700
27,599

22,660
–500
22,160

1,581
–3,445
–1,143
–3,007
24,592
–7,309
17,283
23
17,260

1,448
–2,577
–5,486
–6,615
15,545
–3,787
11,758
–38
11,796

1,298,659
13.29

1,300,000
9.07

13.29
3.30

9.07
2.80

1
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Note
(1)

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as of January 31, 2008
including comparison with
the prior year’s figures

Assets
Note
A.
I.
II.
III.
IV.
V.

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in associates
Other financial investments
Deferred tax assets

(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
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01/31/08
TEUR

01/31/07
TEUR

22,214
128,448
7,502
6,559
13,000
177,723

30,045
126,497
7,478
7,053
9,393
180,466

B. Non-current assets held for disposal

(15)

0

27

C.
I.
II.
III.

(16)
(17)
(18)

53,307
77,300
22,587
153,194
330,917

49,655
81,550
15,059
146,264
326,757

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

01/31/07
TEUR

A.
I.
II.
III.
IV.
V.

Group equity
Share capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Treasury shares
Minority interests

9,500
18,089
151,320
–1,315
101
177,695

9,500
18,089
144,722
0
77
172,388

B. Non-current liabilities
I. Provisions for severance payments
and pensions
II. Provision for deferred taxes
III. Interest-bearing liabilities
IV. Other non-current liabilities

(22)
(14)
(23)
(24)

18,845
1,121
26,628
13,886
60,480

17,119
861
39,106
14,565
71,651

C.
I.
II.
III.

Current liabilities
Current accruals
Trade payables
Current portion of
interest-bearing liabilities
IV. Other current liabilities

(25)
(26)

33,597
30,576

30,773
31,278

(27)
(28)

15,650
12,919
92,742
330,917

9,506
11,161
82,718
326,757

(19)
(20)
(21)

Equity and Liabilities

3
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01/31/08
TEUR

Note

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Changes in Group Equity
for Fiscal Year 2007-2008
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Balance as of January 31, 2006
Dividend payments
Foreign currency translation
Other neutral changes
Actuarial gains/losses
according to IAS 19
Earnings after taxes
Balance as of January 31, 2007 =
Balance as of February 1, 2007
Figures for recorded income
and expenses
Dividend payments
Foreign currency translation
Other neutral changes
Treasury shares
Actuarial gains/losses
according to IAS 19
Earnings after taxes
Balance as of January 31, 2008
Figures for recorded income
and expenses

Share
capital
TEUR
9,500
0
0
0

Capital
reserves
TEUR
18,089
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

9,500

18,089

0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
9,500

0
0
18,089

0

0

Currency
translation
differences
TEUR
–8,844
0
–1,102
0

Retained
earnings
TEUR
145,901
–3,640
0
–22

Treasury
shares
TEUR
0
0
0
0

Minority
interests
TEUR
116
0
0
0

Total
TEUR
164,762
–3,640
–1,102
–22

0
0

632
11,796

0
0

0
–38

632
11,758

–9,946

154,667

0

78

172,388

–1,102

12,428

0

–38

11,289

0
–6,332
0
0

–3,640
0
83
0

0
0
0
–1,315

0
0
0
0

–3,640
–6,332
83
–1,315

0
0
–16,278

–772
17,260
167,598

0
0
–1,315

0
23
101

–772
17,283
177,695

–6,332

16,488

0

23

10,179
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Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for Fiscal Year 2007-2008
including comparison with
the prior year’s figures

In rounded numbers
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1. Consolidated cash flow from operations
Earnings before taxes (EBT)
– Income taxes
+ Depreciation and amortization of assets
and at-equity changes
+ Book value of disposed assets
–(+)Increase (decrease) in deferred tax assets
+ Effect of changes in the scope of consolidation
+/– Allocation to non-current accruals (provisions)
= Consolidated cash flow per balance sheet
–(+)Gains (losses) from
the disposal of assets
– Book value of disposed assets
= Consolidated cash flow from earnings
–(+)Increase (decrease) in inventories
and prepaid expenses
+(–)Increase (decrease) in advance payments
received and deferred income
–(+)Increase (decrease) in trade receivables,
other receivables and intragroup receivables
+(–)Increase (decrease) in trade payables,
intragroup liabilities and other liabilities
+(–)Increase (decrease) in current accruals
and deferred tax liabilities
–(+)Foreign currency translation and other changes
Consolidated cash flow from operations

2007-2008
TEUR

2006-2007
TEUR

24,592
–7,309

15,545
–3,787

26,524
2,118
–3,607
6,129
1,726
50,173

25,414
5,207
–4,450
4,423
–272
42,079

–224
–2,118
47,831

–307
–5,207
36,565

–6,558

913

667

–1,678

–8,557

–8,178

19,224

4,422

6,709
–7,044
4,441
52,272

7,202
–453
2,228
38,793

2. Consolidated cash flow
from investment activities
– Investments in tangible
and intangible assets
– Investments in financial assets
(excluding equity interests)
+(–)Income (loss) from the
disposal of assets
+ Book value of disposed assets
– Effect of changes in the consolidated group
+(–)Foreign currency translation on assets
Consolidated cash flow
from investment activities
3. Consolidated cash flow
from financing activities
– Dividend of parent company
– Repayment of loans and other
long-term credit from credit institutions
–(+)Repayment/increase in non-bank loans
Consolidated cash flow
from financing activities
+(–)Consolidated cash flow from operations
+(–)Consolidated cash flow from investment activities
+(–)Consolidated cash flow from financing activities
= Change in cash and
investment securities
+ Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents
= Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents

2007-2008
TEUR

2006-2007
TEUR

–35,958

–30,950

–1,867

–3,937
7

224
2,118
–2,833
3,545

307
5,207
–1,283
313

–34,771

–30,343

–3,640

–3,640

–12,478
6,145

–279
1

–9,973

–3,918

52,272
–34,771
–9,973

38,793
–30,343
–3,918

7,528
15,059
22,587

4,532
10,527
15,059
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Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for Fiscal Year 2007-2008

A. General Information

Miba Aktiengesellschaft is a group based in Austria with international operations. The
core business of the Miba Group comprises the product segments sintered components,
engine bearings and friction materials. The Group’s head office is located at Dr.-Mitterbauer-Str. 3, 4663 Laakirchen, Austria. The company is registered with the local court,

Financial Statements | Notes
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Landes- als Handelsgericht Wels, under No. FN 107386 x.

The company is included in the scope of consolidation of Mitterbauer Beteiligungs Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen, Austria.

The present consolidated financial statements of Miba Aktiengesellschaft for fiscal year
2007-2008 (February 1, 2007 to January 31, 2008) were prepared on the basis of Sec.
245 a UGB (Unternehmensgesetzbuch, the Austrian Business Enterprise Code) in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable on the
balance sheet date and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretation Committee, as adopted by the European Union (EU), under the supervision
of the Management Board.

No IFRS standards and interpretations that were already published and adopted by the
EU but were not yet obligatory as of the balance sheet date have been applied. Based on
current assessments, the impact on the present consolidated financial statements of
standards and interpretations that are not yet obligatory is not considered material.

For the purpose of clarity, all monetary amounts are shown in thousands of euros (TEUR).

B. Principles of Consolidation

1. Scope of consolidation and balance sheet date
An overview of the significant companies included in the Miba AG Group and details
regarding their consolidation can be found in Appendix 3 to the Notes.

The balance sheet date for all companies included in the consolidated financial
statements – with four exceptions – is January 31 of each year. The four exceptions use
December 31 as their balance sheet date, and no interim financial statements were
prepared for these companies.

The scope of consolidation was defined in accordance with the principles of IAS 27
(Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements). The consolidated entity accordingly
includes 10 Austrian (10 in 2006/2007) and 13 foreign (15 in 2006/2007) subsidiaries in
which Miba Aktiengesellschaft holds, directly or indirectly, the majority of voting rights.
The four subsidiaries that are not included are not significant, even in sum total.

Effective August 1, 2007, Miba Sinter Spain SA (now called Sintermetal S.A.) located in
Ripollet (Barcelona), Spain, was sold and consequently deconsolidated. In the present
consolidated financial statements, the income and expenses of this company for the

income statement, but its balance sheet is not included.

The change in the scope of consolidation has an impact on the consolidated income
statement amounting to –TEUR 14,371 (of which –TEUR 9,006 represents other
operating expenses related to deconsolidation). The effect on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet – not including equity guarantees – is as follows:
Assets

Liabilities

TEUR

01/31/08

TEUR

Non-current assets

11,030

Non-current liabilities

Current assets

15,763

Current liabilities
Change in the
consolidated entity

26,793

01/31/08
944
19,720
6,129
26,793

9
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period from February 1, 2007, to July 31, 2007, are still included in the consolidated

The effect on consolidated cash flow from investment activities – including equity
guarantees – is as follows:
TEUR
Proceeds from disposal

0

Cash and cash equivalents

–2,833

Change in the consolidated entity

–2,833

2. Consolidation methods
Capital has been consolidated since February 1, 2004, using the purchase method.
According to this method, the carrying amount of the participating interest is offset
against the pro rata revalued equity of the subsidiary. Any remaining differences in the
assets are capitalized as goodwill and are subjected annually to an impairment test and
only amortized in the event of unscheduled impairments.

Until January 31, 2004, capital consolidation for company acquisitions was handled
according to the carrying amount method.

Since February 1, 2004, differences in liabilities in conjunction with first-time
consolidation have been treated as income and included in the income statement in the
Financial Statements | Notes

10

year they occur in accordance with IFRS 3, provided that there is no need for writedowns.

Minority interests in the equity and net income of companies controlled by the parent
company are shown in the consolidated financial statements as part of group share
capital and reserves, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 27.

Intragroup receivables and liabilities, expenses and income, and intermediate results are
eliminated unless they are of major importance.

For associated companies included on the basis of the equity method, the same capital
consolidation principles apply as for subsidiaries.

In the case of companies that are valued according to the equity method, interim results
are not eliminated due to their minor importance for financial position and financial
performance.

The required tax deferrals are made for consolidation procedures that affect net income.

3. Foreign currency translation
Translation of the currency of foreign financial statements is handled in accordance with
IAS 21 based on the concept of functional currency. For all companies, this is their
respective local currency, since they operate their businesses independently with regard
to financial, economic and organizational aspects.

The translation of assets and liabilities is therefore based on the average exchange rate
on the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at average annual
exchange rates (except for depreciation and amortization).

Currency translation differences between the closing rate (rate on the balance sheet
date) as used for the consolidated balance sheet and the average rate as used for the
consolidated income statement are netted against consolidated reserves (i.e., additional
paid-in capital).

The translation difference resulting from the revaluation of equity as compared with firsttime consolidation is also recognized under consolidated reserves and not recorded in the
income statement.

In fiscal year 2007-2008, reporting date translation differences of –TEUR 6,332 (previous

The foreign currencies that are important for the Miba Group were included in the
consolidated financial statements at the following translation rates:

Closing rate
Currency in EUR

Average
annual rate

01/31/08

01/31/07

2007-2008

2006-2007

0.38410

0.35540

0.37646

0.36717

1.33994

1.51057

1.44789

1.47138

0.09306

0.09734

0.09616

0.10006

Slovak Koruna

0.02960

0.02843

0.02978

0.02712

Singapore Dollar

0.47438

0.50226

0.48278

0.50110

U.S. Dollar

0.67317

0.77340

0.72325

0.79212

Brazilian Real

as of December 31

British Pound
Chinese Yuan

as of December 31

11
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year: –TEUR 1,102) were included in group equity and had no effect on net income.

C. Accounting Principles and Valuation Rules

The financial statements of all companies included in the consolidation were prepared in
accordance with uniform accounting principles and valuation rules. In the case of
companies that are consolidated according to the equity method, adjustment to the
uniform group valuation guidelines is carried out for significant items.

1. Non-current assets
Intangible assets are valued in accordance with IAS 38 at cost minus scheduled straightline amortization (useful life of 3 to 15 years). According to IAS 38.54, research expenses
are not recognized as an asset. A company’s own development costs do not meet all
criteria listed in IAS 38.57 and are therefore not capitalized. During fiscal year 2007-2008,
research and development costs totaling EUR 16.0 million (previous year: EUR
18.5 million) were recorded as expenses.

For good will, an impairment test is carried out as defined in IAS 36. This is done at least
once a year or whenever amortization is indicated by internal or external indicators.

In order to determine if amortization based on an impairment is required, goodwill is
allocated to those cash-generating units (CGUs) that will profit in the future from the

Financial Statements | Notes
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anticipated synergy potential of the company merger. In the Miba AG Group, the legally
independent company units each form a CGU.

If the carrying amount exceeds the value in use as calculated using the discounted cash
flow (DCF) calculation method – based on future financial plans projected by the
Management Board – then appropriate amortization is taken. Later reversal of an
impairment loss is not permitted.

The discount interest rate used in the DCF calculation corresponds to the interest rate
that reflects the current market assessments of the interest rate effect as well as the
specific risks to which the assets are subjected. For fiscal year 2007-2008, a discount rate
of 7.9% was used (previous year: 7.3%).

Based on impairment tests performed during the fiscal year, unscheduled amortization of
goodwill amounting to TEUR 1,700 (previous year: TEUR 500) was recorded. The
amortization in the past fiscal year pertains solely to the friction segment.

In accordance with IAS 16, property, plant and equipment is valued at cost less
scheduled straight-line depreciation or at the fair market value, if lower. Interest on

borrowed capital for property, plant and equipment manufactured or acquired over a
longer period of time is not capitalized.

If there are any indications of impairment of assets, unscheduled depreciation is required
on the lower attributable value, according to IAS 36. If the reasons for unscheduled
depreciation cease to exist, appropriate write-backs are recorded.

In the case of self-produced assets, the cost comprises not only the cost directly related
to the units of production but also the pro rata fixed and variable production overheads.
These also include the pro rata costs for the retirement benefit plans and for voluntary
benefits.

Scheduled straight-line depreciation is based primarily on the following depreciation rates:
Asset group

Depreciation rate

Buildings

3.0 - 10.0 %

Plant and equipment

10.0 - 25.0 %

Other furniture and fixtures,
tools and office equipment

10.0 - 25.0 %

ownership of the asset are transferred to the lessee (finance lease), are recognized in

13

accordance with IAS 17 at their market value or, if lower, at their present value.
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Leased property, plant and equipment, for which all risks and rewards incident to

Items leased under all other lease agreements are treated like items leased under
operating leases and are therefore attributed to the lessor.

During 2007-2008, investment allowances or grants totaling TEUR 145 were reported
under liabilities (previous year: TEUR 210). These will be reversed in accordance with the
useful life of the asset and pertain solely to property, plant and equipment.

During fiscal year 2007-2008, government grants or subsidies totaling TEUR 2,697
(previous year: TEUR 2,537) were received for research and development activities and
job creation programs and were reported as income.

Investments in associates (associated companies) are reported in the consolidated
financial statements at their pro rata equity value based on the equity method.

The associated companies included in the consolidated financial statements showed on
their respective balance sheet dates assets totaling TEUR 28,356, liabilities totaling
TEUR 15,283, a sales revenue totaling TEUR 68,016 and a combined net income of
TEUR 5,123.

Investments in affiliated companies, unless consolidated, are reported under other
financial investments at the lower of cost or fair value.

Investment securities are recognized at cost at the time of acquisition and are measured
in subsequent periods at current fair value. Changes in market value are treated as
affecting net income and included in the consolidated income statement.

Deferred taxes are recorded for individual companies’ timing differences between
accounting valuation and tax valuation (i.e., between IAS balance sheets and tax balance
sheets) and for consolidation processes resulting in temporary taxable differences. Tax
deferral is determined using the balance sheet liability method in accordance with IAS 12.
Deferred tax assets on losses carried forward were formed if it is probable that they will
be utilized within a reasonable period.

2. Current assets
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Inventories are measured at the lower of cost (of acquisition and/or conversion) or
realizable market value on the balance sheet date. In general, allowances for limited
usability are included. Utilization is basically determined by means of the sliding average
price method.

The cost of conversion includes all directly attributable expenses plus pro rata variable
and fixed production overheads. These also include the pro rata costs for retirement
benefit plans and voluntary benefits. Interest on borrowed capital is not capitalized.

Tax receivables are netted against tax liabilities if they involve the same tax authority and
if the company is entitled and intends to offset.

3. Non-current liabilities
The Austrian group companies form appropriate accruals for future severance payment
obligations, since Austrian law requires employers to pay employees a one-time
severance payment upon termination by the employer or upon retirement. The amount
of the severance payment is based on years of service and the respective income at the
time of termination or retirement.

For employees whose employment started after January 1, 2003, this obligation is
transferred to a contribution-based system. The law requires that an amount totaling
1.53 percent of gross salary be paid into an employee benefit fund. These contributions
are recorded as personnel costs.

Provisions for severance payments and service bonuses are determined as of the
balance sheet date according to the projected unit credit method at an assumed interest
rate of 5.25 percent per year (previous year: 4.5 percent) and including a salary increase
rate of 3.5 percent per year for salaried employees (previous year: 2.5 percent) or
4.0 percent per year for hourly employees (previous year: 3.0 percent per year). The
assumed pension age is based on the earliest possible age for the (early) retirement
pension as defined by the 2004 Pension Reform (see Budgetbegleitgesetz 2003, the
legislation passed with the budget) and on the transitional regulations. A company-

Provisions for pensions are only required for the Austrian companies. These are
calculated based on recognized actuarial principles using the projected unit credit method
at an assumed interest rate of 5.25 percent per year (previous year: 4.5 percent) and a
2.0 percent salary adjustment rate (previous year: 2.0 percent) and/or a 2.0 percent
pension adjustment rate (0 percent for fixed pension commitments). A fluctuation
allowance was not stated.

As of fiscal year 2005-06, any actuarial gains or losses resulting from changes in actuarial
assumptions (demographic and financial assumptions) are reported uniformly, in
accordance with the provisions of IAS 19.93A, as part of group share capital and reserves
in the year they originated and have no effect on the income statement.

Contribution-based pension obligations have been assumed by two foreign subsidiaries.
In these cases the employer is making contributions to external funds. The contributions
to the funds represent expenses for the current period. Expenses reported in fiscal year
2007-2008 total TEUR 637 (previous year: TEUR 638).

15
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specific allowance for fluctuations was stated.

4. Provisions and accruals
Provisions and accruals are reported under other non-current or current liabilities and
cover all risks and contingent liabilities identifiable by the date of balance sheet
preparation. They are reported at the most probable value based on careful examination.

5. Financial assets and liabilities
Unless associates (as defined by IAS 28) or consolidated subsidiaries (as defined by
IAS 27) are involved, financial assets are recognized on the balance sheet in accordance
with IAS 39 and measured either at cost or at fair value, depending on classification.

Investments in non-consolidated companies are always included in the available-for-sale
category. They are measured at fair value at the time they are first reported. If fair values
can be reliably determined, they are used in subsequent measurements following initial
recognition. In cases where no active markets exist and fair values cannot be reliably
determined, financial assets are recognized at cost. Value fluctuations of financial assets
in the available-for-sale category are recognized as part of the revaluation reserve and are
not included in the income statement. Deferred taxes, if significant, are also recognized.
Amounts recognized on the balance sheet are not included in net profit or loss for the
period until the date of disposal or in the event of a significant and permanent impairment
in the corresponding financial assets.
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Investment securities are recognized at cost at the time of acquisition and are measured
in subsequent periods at current fair values. Changes in market value are recognized as
affecting net income and are included in the consolidated income statement.

Trade receivables, loans and other financial liabilities and assets are classified as “Loans
and Receivables” and are recognized in the balance sheet at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, if applicable. If there is any doubt about collectibility, receivables are recognized at the lower recoverable value. Regarding the other financial assets,
the positive market values of derivatives classified as held for trading are also recognized.

No company in the Miba Group currently holds any held-to-maturity investments.

Interest-bearing borrowing, trade payables and other financial liabilities are recognized as
financial liabilities at amortized cost, which may be calculated using the effective interest
method, if applicable. Liabilities arising from finance leases must always be recognized
as liabilities at the present value of the future leasing rates. Regarding the other financial
liabilities, the negative market values of derivatives classified as held for trading are also
recognized.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities generally correspond to the market
prices on the balance sheet date. If prices in active markets are not immediately available,
they are calculated – unless they are only of minor importance – by using recognized
actuarial valuation models and current market parameters (especially interest rates,
exchange rates and credit ratings of contracting parties). The cash flows of financial
instruments are discounted to the balance sheet date for this purpose.

All financial assets and liabilities are measured as of the settlement date. The financial
assets and liabilities are derecognized (removed from the balance sheet) when the rights
to payments from this investment have expired or have been transferred and Miba has
essentially transferred all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of the asset.

6. Recognition of revenue

rewards are transferred to the buyer.

Revenues from long-term construction contracts are recognized in accordance with
IAS 11 on the basis of the stage of completion.

The percentage of completion is determined by the ratio between the contract cost
incurred by the balance sheet date and the estimated total contract cost.

Interest income is recognized in proportion to time based on the effective interest rate of
the asset. Dividend income is reported at the time the legal claim arises.
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Revenues from the sale of products and goods are recognized at the time the risks and

7. Estimates and uncertainties in discretionary evaluations and assumptions
To a certain degree, the consolidated financial statements require that estimates and
assumptions be made that affect the stated assets and liabilities, the disclosure of other
liabilities as of the balance sheet date, and the recognition of income and expenses
during the reporting period. The amounts that actually result in the future may differ from
these estimates. The principle of presenting a “true and fair view” has also been
unconditionally followed when using estimates.

Furthermore, the preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the
assessment of future developments. The valuation of existing capital commitments for
benefits, for example, requires assumptions regarding the discount rate, retirement age,
life expectancy and future salary and pension increases.
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D. Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement and the
Consolidated Balance Sheet

The presentation of the consolidated income statement is based on the nature of expense
method (cost-categories-oriented format, sometimes called the cost of production method).

(1) Sales revenue
Sales revenue for fiscal year 2007-2008 include revenues from contract manufacturing
totaling TEUR 761 (previous year: TEUR 805).

(2) Other operating income
2007-2008

2006-2007

Income from disposal of and
additions to assets,
excluding financial investments

254

457

Income from the reversal of provisions

863

57

1,007

1,117

Other income

10,087

6,787

Total

12,211

8,418

Unrealized exchange gains

Other operating income for fiscal year 2007-2008 primarily includes income from the sale
of scrap, income from grants for the partial financing of research projects and realized
exchange gains.

(3) Cost of materials and other purchased manufacturing services
TEUR
Cost of materials
Cost of other purchased
manufacturing services
Total

2007-2008

2006-2007

109,921

96,990

43,637

43,556

153,558

140,546
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TEUR

(4) Personnel costs
TEUR

2007-2008

2006-2007

Wages

55,221

55,049

Salaries

38,245

38,819

Expenses for severance payments and
contributions to company employee benefit funds

1,483

4,109

Expenses for retirement benefits

1,040

1,243

22,979

23,213

2,429

2,653

121,397

125,086

Expenses for statutory social security
and payroll-related taxes and
mandatory contributions
Other social benefits
Total

During fiscal year 2007-2008 a total of TEUR 240 (previous year: TEUR 156) was paid into
the employee benefit fund.

(5) Other operating expenses
TEUR
Taxes other than income taxes
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2007-2008

2006-2007

817

837

Repair, maintenance and
service agreements

11,681

10,745

Non-recurring expenses

9,006

1,151

Freight and storage

9,856

6,807

Temporary personnel

7,330

5,225

Advisory services

6,314

5,726

Rent and leasing

4,121

3,831

Insurance

3,311

3,140

Motor vehicle and travel expenses

2,729

2,300

Commissions

2,003

2,250

Realized exchange losses

1,766

1,045

Office expenses, mail and telephone

1,249

1,802

Losses from the disposal of assets
(excluding financial investments)

30

150

Unrealized exchange losses

17

250

Other

14,907

16,576

Total

75,137

61,835

(6) Depreciation and amortization
TEUR

2007-2008

Scheduled depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill
Total

2006-2007

25,166

25,786

1,700

500

26,866

26,286

(7) Net interest income
TEUR

2007-2008

Other interest and similar interest income

2006-2007

581

768

44

51

119

111

–2,996

–2,277

–74

–39

Interest on social capital

–1,150

–1,178

Total

–3,445

–2,577

–30

12

From affiliated companies only

Income from other securities
Interest and similar interest expense
From affiliated companies only

From affiliated companies only

(8) Other financial results
2007-2008

Profit (loss) from the disposal of financial investments
Expenses for financial investments
Total

2006-2007

–1,143

–586

0

–4,900

–1,143

–5,486

(9) Net result from financial instruments
The net result for financial instruments by class or valuation category in fiscal year 20072008 and 2006-2007 in accordance with IAS 39 is broken down as follows:
From subsequent
measurement
At
Valuation
fair value allowance

Fiscal year 2007-2008
TEUR

From
interest

Loans and receivables

582

0

–945

–363

99

103

0

202

0

–1

0

–1

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

–2,996

0

0

–2,996

Total

–2,315

102

–945

–3,158

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Total
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TEUR

From subsequent
measurement
At
Valuation
fair value allowance

Fiscal year 2006-2007
TEUR

From
interest

Loans and receivables

768

0

852

1,620

87

–54

0

33

0

239

0

239

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

–2,277

0

0

–2,277

Total

–1,422

185

852

–385

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Total

The interest from financial instruments is reported in the financial results. The valuation
allowances on receivables are reported under other operating expenses.

(10) Income taxes
TEUR
Expenses for current taxes
Non-recurrent taxes only

Changes in deferred taxes
Total

2007-2008

2006-2007

7,779

8,535

657

2,886

–470

–4,748

7,309

3,787

Financial Statements | Notes

22

The difference between the calculated income tax expenses (earnings before taxes
multiplied by the Austrian tax rate of 25 percent) and the income tax expenses for fiscal
year 2007-2008 according to the consolidated income statement is explained by the
following:
TEUR
Earnings before taxes

2007-2008

2006-2007

24,592

15,545

6,148

3,886

Effect of Austrian and foreign tax rates

766

115

Change in the corporate group

454

8

Tax credits or payment of back taxes
for previous periods

591

471

–841

125

191

–818

Income tax expense for the period

7,309

3,787

Group tax rate in %

29.72

24.36

25% of the above amount (previous year: 25%)
calculated income tax expenses

Deferred taxes from consolidation
Other items

11) Intangible assets
A detailed breakdown and overview of the changes in intangible assets is presented in
the section entitled “Changes in consolidated fixed assets” (Appendix 1 to the Notes).
Changes in goodwill are as follows:
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

Opening balance

10,783

11,642

Currency translation differences

–1,333

–360

Impairment expense

–1,700

–500

7,750

10,783

Closing balance

(12) Property, plant and equipment
A detailed breakdown and overview of changes in property, plant and equipment is
provided in the section entitled “Changes in consolidated fixed assets” (Appendix 1 to
the Notes). According to IAS 17, finance leases are recorded under property, plant and
equipment:
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

Cost

11,278

11,912

Depreciation (accumulated)

–1,219

–995

Carrying amount

10,059

10,917

(previous year: TEUR 10,231).

In fiscal year 2007-2008, use of property, plant and equipment not shown on the balance
sheet resulted in expenses totaling TEUR 4,121 (previous year: TEUR 3,246).

Commitments based on lease and rental agreements for buildings and equipment for
future years are as follows:
TEUR
Term of one year or less
Term between one and five years
Term greater than five years

01/31/08

01/31/07

3,279

2,874

13,429

9,298

8,776

9,737

Commitments to purchase items of property, plant and equipment totaled TEUR 7,933
as of January 31, 2008 (previous year: TEUR 7,376).

Property, plant and equipment totaling TEUR 1,260 (previous year: TEUR 1,148) was
pledged as collateral for liabilities. There are no restraints on disposal rights.
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As of January 31, 2008, future expenses resulting from finance leases total TEUR 11,241

(13) Other financial investments
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

313

313

Loans to third parties

4,601

5,074

Investment securities (book-entry securities)

1,645

1,666

Total

6,559

7,053

Investments in affiliated companies

(14) Deferred taxation
The differences in assigned values between the tax balance sheet and the IFRS
consolidated balance sheet are the result of the following differences and/or have the
following effect on deferred taxes:
01/31/08
TEUR

01/31/07

Asset

Liability

Asset Liability

9,581

2,581

8,344

2,893

986

34

1,283

0

45

6

157

122

0

105

0

258

1,777

49

3,051

89

70

67

14

2

12,461

2,842

12,849

3,365

1,684

0

8,289

0

–857

0

–7,412

0

13,288

2,842

13,726

3,365

Assets

679

0

168

0

Elimination of intercompany profits

271

0

376

0

Other

475

–8

198

79

Total balances
Assets
Fixed assets
Inventories
Other assets
Equity and Liabilities
Untaxed reserves
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Provisions and accruals
Other equity and liabilities
Subtotal
Losses carried forward
Valuation allowances for deferred tax assets
Tax accruals and deferrals
Consolidation

Balance
Balance of back taxation of foreign losses
Deferred taxes

–1,713 –1,713

–2,582 –2,582

0

0

–2,493

0

13,000

1,121

9,393

861

For fiscal year 2007-2008, deferred tax assets totaling TEUR 256 (previous year: TEUR 418)
were reported under group share capital and reserves and not included in the income
statement.
In accordance with IAS 12.39, no deferred taxes for investments in subsidiaries were
reported on the consolidated balance sheet.

(15) Non-current assets held for disposal
As of the reporting date, there were no non-current assets held for disposal (previous
year: TEUR 27).

(16) Inventories
Inventories comprise the following categories:
in TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

Raw materials and supplies

17,771

12,496

Semi-finished products (work in process)

15,931

14,378

Finished products

19,534

22,706

71

75

53,307

49,655

Advance payments made on inventories
Total

The inventories include accumulated write-downs totaling TEUR 5,499 (previous year:
TEUR 5,055). The write-down amount in the current year is reported in the consolidated
income statement under cost of materials.

(17) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Receivables from contract manufacturing (PoC)
Advance payments received on
receivables from contract manufacturing
Receivables from affiliated companies
Other receivables and assets
Prepaid expenses
Total
Financial receivables only

01/31/08

01/31/07

67,645

65,968

1,565

804

–721

–233

178

165

7,720

14,000

913

845

77,300

81,550

73,136

77,587

All trade and other receivables reported as of January 31, 2008, and January 31, 2007,
were classified as falling due within one year.

25

Financial Statements | Notes

TEUR

Contract manufacturing
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

Contract revenue reported as sales revenue

761

805

Contract costs incurred by the balance sheet date

751

678

10

126

721

233

For all orders not invoiced
as of the balance sheet date:

Profits (losses) accrued
by the balance sheet date
Advance and partial payments received

The carrying amounts for trade receivables as of January 31, 2008, and January 31, 2007
are as follows:
Portion of

TEUR
Trade and
contract manufacturing
receivables

Portion of which is unimpaired and
past due in the following periods

Carrying
paired nor
amount past due on less than
01/31/08 reporting date 60 days

69,388

60,531

6,707

between between
60 and
180 and more than
180 days 360 days 360 days

1,344

639

167

Portion of

26

Financial Statements | Notes

which is
neither im-

TEUR
Trade and
contract manufacturing
receivables

which is

Portion of which is unimpaired and

neither im-

past due in the following periods

Carrying
paired nor
amount past due on less than
01/31/07 reporting date 60 days

66,937

58,697

6,183

between between
60 and
180 and more than
180 days 360 days 360 days

1,795

37

225

With regard to loans and other financial receivables, there were no defaults or delays in
payment nor any significant impairments as of the balance sheet date.

With regard to the balance of trade and contract manufacturing receivables that are
neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications as of the reporting date that the
debtor entities will not meet their payment obligations.

The valuation allowances for trade receivables experienced the following changes in
fiscal year 2007-2008 and 2006-2007:
TEUR

2007-2008

Balance as of February 1

2006-2007

807

2,168

–567

–1,705

Additions

275

345

As of January 31

515

807

Reversal or exhaustion

In fiscal year 2007-2008, the expenses for complete write-offs of trade receivables
totaled TEUR 0, as in the previous year.

With regard to loans and other financial receivables, there were no defaults or delays in
payment nor any significant impairments as of the balance sheet date.

(18) Cash and cash equivalents
This item essentially includes cash on hand and bank balances.

As of the balance sheet date, there were no restraints on the disposal of the amounts

(19) Share capital

27

The share capital of Miba Aktiengesellschaft totaled TEUR 9,500 as of January 31, 2008.
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included in this item.

It comprises 1,300,000 no-par-value shares. The total includes 870,000 common shares,
130,000 non-voting convertible preferred shares (Issue A) and 300,000 non-voting nonconvertible preferred shares (Issue B).

The Miba Aktiengesellschaft Issue B preferred share is listed on the “Standard Auction
Market” of the Vienna Stock Exchange (Wiener Börse).

Treasury stock
On July 6, 2007, the 21st Annual General Meeting gave the company the authority to
purchase company shares over a period of 18 months for no specific purpose – excluding
trade of company shares as the purpose of the purchase – for a minimum transaction
value of EUR 80.00 and a maximum value of EUR 180.00. In addition, the Annual General
Meeting authorized the company, for a period of 5 years from the date the resolution was
adopted, to dispose of subsequently acquired shares by a method other than through the
stock exchange or by public offer, excluding shareholders’ subscription rights, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board for the purpose of issuing shares as a consideration for

the acquisition of companies, plants, parts of plants or holdings in one or more
companies in Austria or abroad.

In its meeting on July 14, 2007, the Management Board of Miba Aktiengesellschaft
resolved to make use of the General Meeting’s authorization for the purchase of
company shares and to purchase up to 15,000 Miba Category B preferred shares on the
stock market. In its meeting on February 19, 2008, the Management Board resolved to
expand the stock repurchase program to include the purchase of up to 30,000 Category B
preferred Miba shares on the stock market.

(20) Capital reserves
The capital reserves consist solely of appropriated reserves (premium reserves) and, as
in the previous fiscal year, total TEUR 18,089.

(21) Retained earnings
Fiscal year 2005-2006 was the first year in which the IAS 19.93A rules were applied. In
2007-2008 the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, including deferred taxes on
those amounts, resulted in an accumulated decrease in capital reserves of TEUR 2,022
(previous year: TEUR 1,250) and did not affect net income.
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(22) Provisions for severance payments and pensions
Re provisions for severance payments:
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

15,928

16,917

Change in the scope of consolidation

0

–1,391

Expenses related to years of service

892

917

Interest expenses

691

694

Severance payments

–1,209

–775

Actuarial losses/gains

1,391

–434

17,692

15,928

Present value of severance obligations
(defined benefit obligations or DBO)
= Opening balance

Present value of severance obligations (DBO)
= Closing balance

Re provisions for pensions:
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

7,559

7,158

Current service cost

223

260

Interest cost

329

321

Pension benefits paid out

–71

–120

–296

–60

7,744

7,559

–6,591

–6,368

1,153

1,191

Present value of pension obligations
(defined benefit obligations or DBO)
= Opening balance

Actuarial losses/gains
Present value of pension obligations (DBO)
= Closing balance
Value of fund assets (reinsurance)
Provisions for pensions

(23) Interest-bearing liabilities
This item includes all interest-bearing liabilities with a remaining term of more than one
year. Details are given in the financial liabilities table in Note 31: financial instruments,
financial risk management and capital management.

Liabilities to banks
Falling due after more than five years

Liabilities from loans extended by
non-banking entities
Falling due after more than five years

Total
Falling due after more than five years

01/31/08

01/31/07

24,388

36,722

1,273

2,399

29

2,240

2,384

0

0

26,628

39,106

1,273

2,399
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TEUR

(24) Other non-current liabilities
This item includes other non-current liabilities falling due after more than one year.
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

Provisions for service bonuses

3,302

3,173

Falling due after more than five years

3,302

3,173

73

1,822

0

0

10,367

8,901

6,056

3,929

Other non-current liabilities

0

459

Falling due after more than five years

0

191

145

210

0

0

13,886

14,565

9,357

7,292

10,367

8,901

Advance payments received on orders
Falling due after more than five years

Liabilities from finance leases
Falling due after more than five years

Investment allowances or grants
Falling due after more than five years

Total
Falling due after more than five years

Financial liabilities only

(25) Changes in provisions and accruals
Currency
Balance on translation
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Change in
scope of

02/01/07

differences

Allocation

01/31/08

Provisions for pensions and
severance payments

17,119

–27

0

0

1,079

2,832

18,845

861

–217

0

0

668

1,145

1,121

17,980

–244

0

0

1,747

3,977

19,966

9,460

–24

0

32

4,566

8,652

13,490

11,413

–148

–1,280

287

3,625

6,680

12,753

9,900

466

–9

1,094

8,235

6,326

7,354

Current accruals

30,773

294

–1,289

1,413

16,426

21,658

33,597

Total provisions and accruals

48,753

50

–1,289

1,413

18,173

25,635

53,563

Deferred taxes
Non-current provisions
or accruals
Provision for taxes
Other personnel accruals
Other provisions and accruals

consolidation

Balance on

TEUR

Reversal

Exhaustion

(26) Trade payables
TEUR
Trade payables to third parties
Trade payables to affiliated companies
Total

01/31/08

01/31/07

29,894

30,237

682

1,041

30,576

31,278

(27) Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities
This item comprises all interest-bearing liabilities falling due in less than one year. Details
are given in the financial liabilities table in Note 31 on Financial instruments, financial risk

01/31/08

01/31/07

14,728

6,465

17

2,110

905

931

15,650

9,506

01/31/08

01/31/07

Advance payments received on orders

621

1,202

Liabilities from finance leases

875

1,330

Other liabilities

7,706

5,438

Other tax liabilities

1,232

1,071

Other liabilities from
social security obligations

2,126

2,117

359

3

12,919

11,161

31

2,032

3,577

01/31/08

01/31/07

11,200

10,500
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management and capital management
TEUR
Due to credit institutions
Due to affiliated companies
Liabilities from loans extended
by non-banking entities
Total

(28) Other current liabilities
TEUR

Deferred income
Total
Financial liabilities only

(29) Other obligations and risks
Existing contingencies are as follows:
TEUR
Guarantees

In connection with the construction of the plant for Miba Steeltec s.r.o. in Vráble, Slovakia,
the guarantee to the lessor was increased to EUR 11.2 million from EUR 10.5 million.

There are no other obligations or risks other than those duly reported in the present
consolidated financial statements or listed in the notes.

E. Other information

(30) Consolidated cash flow statement
The consolidated cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method. Cash and
cash equivalents comprise solely cash on hand, checks, bank balances and marketable
securities. Interest received and interest paid totaling –TEUR 2,414 (previous year:
–TEUR 1,521) is attributed to operating activity. Dividend payments are attributed to
financing activity. The effects of changes in the consolidated group are reported under
the applicable items in each of the three segments. Income taxes totaling TEUR 6,348
were paid in fiscal year 2007-2008 (previous year: TEUR 5,441).

(31) Financial instruments, financial risk management and capital management
Carrying amounts, fair values and assigned value based on valuation categories
The carrying amounts, fair values and assigned values for financial assets (financial
instruments classified as assets) as of January 31, 2008, and January 31, 2007, according
to classes or valuation categories as per IAS 39 are broken down as follows:

Assigned value per IAS 39
Valuation
category
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Fair value,
Carrying amount

Fair value

Fair value,

Amortized no effect on with effect on

TEUR

per IAS 39

01/31/08

01/31/07

01/31/08

01/31/07

Cash and
cash equivalents
Investments in
affiliated
companies
(not consolidated)

Not
applicable

22,587

15,059

22,587

15,059

–

✓

–

–

313

313

313

313

✓

–

–

–

4,601

5,074

4,601

5,074

–

✓

–

–

69,388

66,938

69,388

66,938

–

✓

–

–

8,897

3,748

8,897

–

✓

–

–

1,666

1,645

1,666

–

–

–

✓

258

68

258

–

–

–

✓

98,204

102,350

98,204

Loans
Trade
receivables
Other
financial
receivables
Securities
(held-fortrading)
Derivatives with
positive
market value
Total

Availablefor-sale
Loans and
receivables
Loans and
receivables

Loans and
receivables
3,748
At fair value
with effect on
profit or loss
(fair value option) 1,645
At fair value
with effect on
profit or loss
(held for trading)
68
102,350

Cost

cost

profit or loss profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other financial receivables are generally
short-term or fall due within short time periods. Therefore their carrying amounts as of
the balance sheet date correspond approximately to the fair value. The fair value of loans
corresponds, if material, to the present value of the payments associated with the assets
based on the current market parameters.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum credit risk as of the
balance sheet date.

The financial assets in the available-for-sale valuation category include non-listed equity
instruments whose fair value could not be reliably determined and which were
recognized at cost in the balance sheet as totaling TEUR 313 (previous year: TEUR 313).

The carrying amounts, fair values and assigned values for financial liabilities (financial
instruments classified as liabilities) as of January 31, 2008, and January 31, 2007, according
to classes or valuation categories as per IAS 39 or IAS 17, respectively, are broken down as
follows:

Assigned value per IAS 39
category
TEUR

Interestbearing
liabilities
Liabilities
from finance
leases

per IAS 39

Fair value, with- Fair value,
Carrying amount

Amortized out effect on with effect on

value

01/31/07

01/31/08

01/31/07

Financial
liabilities
measured at
amortized cost 42,278

48,612

42,308

48,587

✓

–

–

–

10,233

11,674

10,233

–

–

–

✓

31,278

30,576

31,278

✓

–

–

–

2,247

1,157

2,247

✓

–

–

–

274

84

274

–

–

✓

–

92,644

85,799

92,619

85,769

cost

Assigned

01/31/08

Not
applicable
11,674
Financial
liabilities
Trade
measured at
payables
amortized cost 30,576
Financial
Other
liabilities
financial
measured at
liabilities
amortized cost 1,157
Derivatives with
At fair value
negative market
with effect on
value and no hedg- profit or loss
ing relationship
(held for trading)
84
Total

Fair value

profit or loss profit or loss per IAS 17

Trade payables and other financial liabilities fall due within short time periods; the values
shown on the balance sheet represent the fair values approximately.
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Valuation

The fair values of interest-bearing liabilities are determined, if material, as present values
of the payments associated with the debts based on the applicable market parameters.

Analysis of contractual payments of interest and principal
The contractual (undiscounted) payments of interest and principal on primary financial
liabilities (host debt contracts) and on derivative financial instruments at positive and
negative fair value comprised the following categories as of January 31, 2008, and
January 31, 2007:

Carrying amount
TEUR

01/31/08

Cash flows

Cash flows 2009-2010

Cash flows

2008-2009

until 2011-2012

as of 2012-2013

Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal

Primary financial liabilities
(host debt contracts)
Interest-bearing liabilities

42,278

761

15,651

1,744

25,354

58

1,273

Liabilities from finance leases

11,674

548

884

2,168

4,696

1,012

6,094

Trade payables

30,576

0

30,576

0

0

0

0

1,157

0

1,157

0

0

0

0

85,685

1,309

48,268

3,912

30,050

1,070

7,367

Foreign exchange
forward contracts

84

0

84

0

0

0

0

Total

84

0

84

0

0

0

0

Other financial liabilities
Total
Derivative financial liabilities
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This general category includes all financial instruments in existence on the balance sheet
date for which payments had already been contractually stipulated. Planned or budgeted
figures for future new liabilities are not included. Amounts in foreign currencies were
translated at the closing rate, which is the spot exchange rate on the balance sheet date.
Variable interest payments on the financial instruments were determined based on the
interest rates last set before the balance sheet date. Financial liabilities that are repayable
at any time are always assigned to the earliest time band.

Derivatives and hedging
Derivative financial instruments (derivatives) are used in particular to hedge against
currency risks. All derivative financial instruments are recognized in the balance sheet at
fair value in accordance with IAS 39. In the case of positive market values, derivative
financial instruments are shown under “Other receivables and assets”. In the case of
negative market values, derivatives are shown under “Other liabilities”.

The market prices determined by banks on the reporting date are used to measure
derivative financial instruments. If no market prices are used, the fair value is calculated
using recognized financial models. The assigned fair values correspond in each case to
the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Miba does not currently make use of the IAS 39 provisions regarding hedging
relationships (hedge accounting). Derivative financial instruments are assigned to the
held-for-trading category.

The portfolio of open derivative financial instruments as of January 31, 2008, and
January 31, 2007, comprised the following:
2007-2008

Market value
Nominal
Market value
positive negative amount positive negative
01/31/08
01/31/07
01/31/07

Currency (in thousands) TEUR
Foreign exchange forward
contracts
USD
Foreign exchange forward
contracts
Total

EURSKK

TEUR

0

0

0

EUR 11,100

68

84

68

84

(in thousands) TEUR

TEUR

USD 16,500 258

0

EUR 12,100

0

273

258

273

The nominal values of the forward contracts represent the total amount of all purchase
and sales amounts for all derivative financial transactions.

Financial risk management and capital management
As a global corporation, the Miba Group is exposed to certain general and industryspecific risks.

It is Miba’s corporate policy to closely monitor existing risk positions and market developments in order to identify emerging risks at an early stage and to take steps quickly to
control them.

The annual evaluation of the companies in the Miba Group did not reveal any significantly
new or previously undetected risks. In addition, currently available information does not
indicate any individual risks that could jeopardize the company’s continued existence or
adversely affect its financial position and financial performance.
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Nominal
amount
01/31/08

2006-2007

Financial instruments play a key role in hedging against risks. According to IAS 32,
financial instruments comprise primary financing instruments such as receivables and
trade payables as well as financial receivables and financial liabilities. The carrying
amount of the primary financial instruments recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
corresponds essentially to the market value or the fair value.

On the other hand, financial instruments also include derivative financial instruments
used as hedging instruments to hedge against currency exchange risks.

a) Credit risk
On the asset side, the amounts reported also represent the maximum credit risk or risk
of default by the borrower. In the case of receivables, the risk can be considered minor
since the credit standing of new and existing clients is continuously reviewed and since
no individual customer is liable for more than 9% (previous year: 6%) of total trade
receivables. Furthermore, the credit risk is largely hedged by credit insurance and
bankable forms of security (guarantees, letters of credit, etc.).

b) Interest rate risk
An interest rate risk stemming from fluctuations in the market interest rate primarily
applies to receivables and liabilities having a term of more than one year. In the
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operational area, these terms are not of material significance, but they can play a role for
financial investments and financial liabilities.

On the asset side, an interest rate risk exists only for securities held as financial
investments. Since these securities are held principally through investment funds and
may be converted into cash at any time, the interest rate risk is not deemed to be
material.

Most of the amounts due to credit institutions (bank loans, etc.) involve variable interest
rates. The fair value of these liabilities is subject to market interest rate fluctuations.

c) Currency risk
Currency risks on the assets side apply primarily to assets in two currencies, the U.S.
dollar (USD) and the Slovak koruna (SKK), and result from trade receivables involving
international clients. On the liability side, with the exception of trade payables, there are
no significant currency risks since operations are financed by each individual group
company in its local currency.

In addition to hedging through derivative financial instruments, hedging is also handled
by the natural process of closing out positions by opposite transactions such as when
trade liabilities in USD are offset by receivables in USD.

d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity in the Miba Group is ensured through appropriate liquidity planning at the
beginning of each year, financial resources sufficient to cover a period of less than 12
months, and short-term credit lines.

e) Capital management
Miba Aktiengesellschaft is not subject to any statutory minimum capital requirements.
The objective of the Miba Group is not only to continue to increase enterprise value but
to maintain an appropriate capital structure.

Capital management is based on the equity ratio (or capital ratio), which is the ratio of
shareholder’s equity to the balance sheet total (total assets) shown on the consolidated
balance sheet. Although there is no concrete numerical target, the group equity ratio

01/31/08

01/31/07

Group equity (TEUR)

177,659

172,388

Consolidated balance sheet total (TEUR)

330,917

326,757
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53.7%

52.7%
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should not be below 45%.

Group equity ratio (in %)

f) Sensitivity analyses
Basis for the sensitivity analyses
In order to represent material market risks relating to financial instruments, IFRS 7
requires sensitivity analyses that show the effects of hypothetical changes in relevant
risk variables on earnings and group equity capital. The Miba Group is primarily exposed
to foreign currency and interest rate risk. Thus appropriate sensitivity analyses were
conducted for these market risks.

The affected financial instrument holdings as of the balance sheet date were used as the
basis for determining the effects caused by hypothetical changes in the risk variables. It
was assumed that the particular risk on the balance sheet date essentially represents the
risk during the fiscal year.

The Austrian corporate income tax rate of 25% was used uniformly as the tax rate.

In the sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk, only the cash flow risk was considered
since the fair value risk is not relevant due to the accounting and valuation methods used.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
If the euro had risen in value by 10% against the following currencies as of the balance
sheet date, then earnings (after taxes) and group equity would have been higher or lower
by the amounts listed below. In this analysis it was assumed that all other variables,
particularly interest rates, remain constant.
TEUR

01/31/08

01/31/07

USD

–637

–388

SKK

88

-9

–550

–397

Total

If the value of the euro had decreased by 10% as of the balance sheet date against the
currencies listed above, the effect on earnings (after taxes) and group equity would have
been the same as above but with the sign (minus or plus) reversed (assuming that all
other variables remained constant).

The sensitivity of group equity was affected solely by earnings (after taxes) in the above
analyses.
Financial Statements | Notes
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Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
A change in the market interest rate of 100 basis points as of the balance sheet date
would have caused an increase or decrease in earnings (after taxes) of TEUR 113
(previous year: TEUR 214) and the same increase or decrease in group equity. In this
analysis it was assumed that all other variables, particularly foreign exchange rates,
remain constant. The sensitivity of group equity was affected solely by earnings (after
taxes).

(32) Segment reporting
The primary classification (by business segment) reflects the internal organization and
management structure of the Miba Group. Secondary segment reporting (by region) is
structured according to the locations of group companies.

Sales between the segments are transacted at market prices and are generally equivalent
to the prices used in third party sales.

The numerical presentation of segment reporting is given in Appendix 2 to the Notes.

(33) Events after the balance sheet date
Events after the balance sheet date that are relevant for valuation on the balance sheet
date such as pending legal disputes or claims for damages and any other obligations or
anticipated losses that must be disclosed in accordance with IAS 10 are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements or are not known.

(34) Business relations with related parties
During fiscal year 2007-2008 a total of TEUR 284 (previous year: TEUR 306) in net fees
was paid to closely connected individuals for legal and consulting services.

All business relations with related parties (closely connected companies and individuals)
and with companies consolidated on the basis of the equity method primarily involve
service relationships and are the result of common foreign practices.

(35) Information on executive bodies and employees
During fiscal year 2007-2008, there were the following changes in number of employees:

Non-salaried employees
Salaried employees
Total

01/31/07
Reporting date
Average

1,971

1,931

1,981

2,045

763

775

792

805

2,734

2,706

2,773

2,850

Expenses for severance payments and contributions to company employee benefit funds
and expenses for retirement benefits are broken down as follows:
2007-2008

2006-2007

Severance payments

Severance payments

and payments
TEUR

Board members,
managing directors
and executive employees

and payments

to company

Retirement

to company

Retirement

benefit funds

benefits

benefit funds

benefits

267

459

103

477

Other employees

1,216

581

4,006

766

Total

1,483

1,040

4,109

1,243

The goal of the compensation system for Management Board members is to adequately
compensate them based on their scope of activities and responsibilities and in line with
domestic and international compensation standards. A significant part of this compensation is a high variable component based on the company’s results. The annual
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01/31/08
Reporting date
Average

bonus is a variable cash payment, the amount of which is determined on the basis of
individual objectives and results-based targets.

Management Board members have individual pension arrangements, and the company
pays defined amounts to the Management Board members. For the Chairman of the
Board, there also exists an “old” pension arrangement that provides for a fixed pension
amount with a value maintenance or escalator clause. This obligation is covered through
pension reinsurance.

The statutory provisions in force in Austria apply to the termination of employment of
Management Board members.

On January 31, 2008, KR Siegfried Dapoz and Ing. Alfred Hörtenhuber retired from the
Management Board of Miba Aktiengesellschaft.

Compensation of Management Board members totaled TEUR 1,729 in fiscal year 20072008 (previous year: TEUR 1,670), of which TEUR 211 (previous year: TEUR 220) related
to variable salary components.

No remuneration was granted to former management board members or their surviving
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dependents.

Compensation totaling TEUR 75 (previous year: TEUR 78) was paid to the members of
the Supervisory Board for their services in fiscal year 2007-2008.

Members of the Supervisory Board in fiscal year 2007-2008:
Dr. Theresa Jordis, Vienna, Austria (Chairwoman)
Dipl.-Bw. Alfred Heinzel, Vorchdorf, Austria (Deputy Chairman)
Dr. Robert Büchlhofer, Starnberg, Germany
DDr. Robert Ehrlich, Wels, Austria
Hermann Biesl, Roitham, Austria (delegated by the employee council)
Hermann Aigner, Vorchdorf, Austria (delegated by the employee council)

(36) Earnings per share
According to IAS 33 (Earnings Per Share), the basic earnings per share are calculated by
dividing the net profit or loss for the period (consolidated net income) that is attributable
to common shareholders by the weighted number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Since preferred shares have an unrestricted residual interest in the company’s
assets, they had to be included in the number of shares:

in

2007-2008

Consolidated net income

TEUR

17,260

11,796

Net income attributable to common
and preferred shareholders

TEUR

17,260

11,796

shares

1,298,659

1,300,000

EUR/share

13.29

9.07

EUR/share

13.29

9.07

Weighted average number of
issued common and preferred shares
Basic earnings per share

1

Diluted earnings per share

1

2006-2007

1 For common and preferred shares

(37) Proposed distribution of profits
Pursuant to the provisions of the Austrian Stock Corporation Law (Aktiengesetz), the
individual financial statements for Miba Aktiengesellschaft as of January 31, 2008, which
were prepared in accordance with Austrian accounting rules, form the basis for the
distribution of dividends. The net profit available for distribution as reported in the
financial statements for fiscal year 2007-2008 is TEUR 4,552. The Management Board
proposes that a dividend of EUR 3.30 per share be paid to preferred and common
shareholders and that the remaining amount be carried forward to the next fiscal year.
Dividend distribution:
EUR
429,000.00

Preferred shareholders, Issue B

955,871.40

Common shareholders
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Preferred shareholders, Issue A

2,871,000.00

Remaining amount

296,556.54
4,552,427.94

Release by the Management Board
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements,
which were prepared in accordance with the prevailing accounting standards, present a
true and fair view of the group’s financial position and financial performance, and that the
group management report presents the group’s business developments, business
results and overall situation such that it gives a true and fair view of the group’s financial
position and financial performance, and that the group management report describes the
important risks and uncertainties to which the group is exposed.
The Management Board of Miba Aktiengesellschaft released the consolidated financial
statements to the Supervisory Board on May 1, 2008.
Laakirchen, Austria, May 1, 2008

The Management Board
Dipl.-Ing. DDr. h. c. Peter Mitterbauer (Chairman)
Dr.-Ing. Norbert Schrüfer
Dr. Wolfgang Litzlbauer

Appendix 1 to the Notes:
Changes in
Consolidated Fixed Assets
Appendix 2 to the Notes:
Segment Reporting
Appendix 3 to the Notes:
Affiliated Companies

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Report of the Supervisory Board

In fiscal year 2007-2008, the Supervisory Board performed the duties it is required to
carry out under Austrian law and the Articles of Incorporation.

The Management Board provided the Supervisory Board with regular, timely and
comprehensive information about all issues relating to business operations and development, including the risk situation and risk management system at Miba AG and the
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principle companies in the Miba Group. The Chairman of the Management Board
discussed various current or pending issues and decisions with the Chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board or the Deputy Chairman.

A total of five meetings of the Supervisory Board were held during the fiscal year. No
member of the Supervisory Board attended fewer than half of the meetings.

The Supervisory Board has formed an Audit Committee from among its members which
performs the duties required by law in connection with auditing and preparing for
adoption of the annual financial statements, the proposal for distribution of profit, and the
management report as well as the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report. In addition, it makes a proposal regarding the selection of auditors.

The annual financial statements, management report and notes as well as the annual
consolidated financial statements, group management report and notes were audited by
KPMG Austria Gesellschaft mbH, Linz, Austria. On the basis of the final audit result, the
auditors approved the documents without objection and issued an unqualified audit
opinion.

Representatives of the auditing firm attended the meeting of the Audit Committee of the
Supervisory Board and reported on the audit.

The Supervisory Board approved the result of the audit of financial statements.

The Supervisory Board reviewed and approved the annual financial statements, which are

(Aktiengesetz or AktG). The consolidated financial statements and the consolidated
management report were reviewed and approved.

The Supervisory Board would like to take this opportunity to thank both the Management
Board and the entire staff for their individual efforts and dedication in connection with the
work performed during this fiscal year.

Laakirchen, May 2008

Dr. Theresa Jordis
Chairwoman
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thereby considered adopted under Sec. 125 (2) of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act
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Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Unqualified Audit Opinion
(Independent Auditor’s Report)
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Miba
Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen, Austria, for the fiscal year from February 1, 2007, to
January 31, 2008. These consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated
balance sheet (as of January 31, 2008), the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated cash flow statement, and the consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the fiscal year ending January 31, 2008, as well as a summary of the significant

Responsibility of legal representatives for the consolidated financial statements
The Company’s legal representatives are responsible for preparing consolidated financial
statements that present a true and fair view of the group’s financial position and financial
performance in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the EU. This responsibility includes the following duties: designing,
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements and the presentation of a true and fair view of the
group’s financial position and performance such that these consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement due to either intentional or unintentional
errors; selecting and applying appropriate accounting principles and valuation methods;
and making estimates that appear reasonable under the given circumstances.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our responsibility is to give an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the laws and regulations
applicable in Austria and the International Standards on Auditing (ISA) issued by the
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the International
Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Those standards require that we comply with ethical
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accounting policies and valuation methods used and other explanatory notes.

requirements and plan and perform the audit so as to be able to evaluate, with reasonable
assurance, whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatements and whether the group management report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements. Selection of auditing procedures is based on our
knowledge about the group’s business activities and economic and legal environment as
well as on our expectations regarding potential errors. The audit involves evaluating the
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evidence for amounts and other disclosures given in the consolidated financial
statements, based primarily on sampling. The audit also involves an assessment of
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by legal representatives as
well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

An audit involves the implementation of auditing procedures for the purpose of obtaining
evidence with regard to the amounts and other disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The selection of auditing procedures is based on the auditor’s best judgment
and on the auditor’s assessment of the risk that significant misstatements may occur,
whether due to intentional or unintentional errors. In making these risk assessments, the
auditor considers the internal control system that is relevant for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements and the presentation of a true and fair view of the
group’s financial position and financial performance in order to select the auditing
procedures suitable for the circumstances but not to give an opinion on the effectiveness
of the group’s internal control system. The audit also involves an assessment of the
appropriateness of the accounting principles and valuation methods used and of
significant estimates made by legal representatives as well as an evaluation of the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a reasonable basis for our audit opinion.

Audit opinion
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. On the basis of the results of the audit, we
are of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements comply with applicable laws
and regulations and with the supplementary provisions in the Articles of Incorporation
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and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the group’s financial position
as of January 31, 2008, as well as the group’s financial performance and cash flows for
the fiscal year from February 1, 2007, until January 31, 2008, in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Report on the group management report
The laws and regulations applicable in Austria require us to verify whether the group
management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether
other information given in the group management report does not misrepresent the
position of the group.

In our opinion, the group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements.

Linz, May 1, 2008

KPMG Austria GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft
Dr. Helge Löffler

Mag. Ernst Pichler

(*Austrian Certified

Wirtschaftsprüfer*

Wirtschaftsprüfer*

Public Accountant)

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Changes in Consolidated Fixed Assets
as of January 31, 2008
Appendix 1/1 to the Notes

Cost of Acquisition and Manufacturing
Currency
Balance on translation
Trans02/01/07 differences Additions Disposals1
fers
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR

Balance on
01/31/08
TEUR

I. Intangible assets:
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1. Patents and licenses

12,765

2

597

84

5

1,285

2. Customer relationships

21,952

–2,845

0

0

0

19,107

3. Goodwill

15,158

–1,333

0

4,375

0

9,450

49,875

–4,176

597

4,459

5

41,842

49,326

–210

2,962

7,778

15,079

59,379

4,144

5

74

520

0

3,703

212,381

–976

19,142

36,156

8,586

202,977

3. Other furniture and fixtures,
tools and office equipment

28,536

–97

2,248

2,505

84

28,265

4. Advance payments and
fixed assets under construction

24,195

149

11,009

353

–23,754

11,246

314,438

–1,135

35,360

46,792

–5

301,866

313

0

0

0

0

313

2. Investments in associates

4,305

–229

0

0

0

4,076

3. Loans

5,579

–100

1,567

1,220

0

5,826

4. Investment securities
(book-entry securities)

1,759

0

300

300

0

1,759

11,956

–329

1,867

1,520

0

11,974

376,269

–5,639

37,825

52,772

0

355,682

II. Property, plant and equipment:
1. Land and buildings
Land value only

2. Plant and equipment

III. Financial investments:
1. Investments in affiliated companies

1 A total of TEUR 31,261 is included in disposals under costs of acquisition and manufacturing, and a total of TEUR 30,619 is included in
disposals under accumulated depreciation as a result of changes in the scope of consolidation.

Balance on
02/01/07
TEUR

Additions
TEUR

Writeups
TEUR

Net Value
Disposals 1
TEUR

Balance on
01/31/08
TEUR

Balance on
01/31/08
TEUR

Balance on
01/31/07
TEUR

6,527

9

2,264

0

56

8,744

4,541

6,238

8,928

–1,157

1,413

0

0

9,184

9,923

13,024

4,375

0

1,700

0

4,375

1,700

7,750

10,783

19,830

–1,148

5,377

0

4,431

19,628

22,214

30,045

24,770

–120

2,246

0

3,552

23,344

36,035

24,556

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,703

4,144

141,664

–767

17,057

0

29,444

128,510

74,467

70,718

21,507

–59

2,185

0

2,069

21,564

6,701

7,029

0

0

0

0

0

0

11,246

24,194

187,941

–946

21,488

0

35,065

173,418

128,448

126,497

0

0

0

0

0

0

313

313

–3,172

43

0

–1,813

–1,516

–3,426

7,502

7,478

505

0

1,225

0

505

1,225

4,601

5,074

93

0

21

0

0

114

1,645

1,666

–2,574

43

1,246

–1,813

–1,011

–2,087

14,061

14,531

205,197

–2,051

28,112

–1,813

38,485

190,959

164,723

171,073
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Accumulated Depreciation
Currency
translation
differences
TEUR

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Changes in Consolidated Fixed Assets
as of January 31, 2007
Appendix 1/2 to the Notes

Cost of Acquisition and Manufacturing
Currency
Balance on translation
Trans02/01/06 differences Additions Disposals1
fers
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR

Balance on
01/31/07
TEUR

I. Intangible assets:
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1. Patents and licenses

11,314

18

1,594

785

624

12,765

2. Customer relationships

23,476

–1,524

0

0

0

21,952

3. Goodwill

15,517

–359

0

0

0

15,158

50,307

–1,865

1,594

785

624

49,875

50,277

78

930

3,250

1,291

49,326

4,118

26

0

0

0

4,144

225,190

634

12,786

42,339

16,111

212,382

3. Other furniture and fixtures, tools
and office equipment

32,485

34

2,024

2,820

–3,187

28,536

4. Advance payments and fixed assets
under construction

23,822

785

14,541

115

–14,839

24,194

331,774

1,531

30,281

48,524

–624

314,438

239

0

82

8

0

313

2. Investments in associates

4,427

–122

0

0

0

4,305

3. Loans

2,227

–54

3,955

549

0

5,579

4. Investment securities (book-entry securities)

2,625

0

200

1,066

0

1,759

9,518

–176

4,237

1,623

0

11,956

391,599

–510

36,112

50,932

0

376,269

II. Property, plant and equipment:
1. Land and buildings
Land value only

2. Plant and equipment

III. Financial investments:
1. Investments in affiliated companies

1 A total of TEUR 34,301 is included in disposals under costs of acquisition and manufacturing, and a total of TEUR 27,765 is included in disposals
under accumulated depreciation as a result of changes in the scope of consolidation.

Net Value
Adjusting Balance on Balance on Balance on
entries
01/31/07 01/31/07
01/31/06
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR

4,992

10

2,107

0

582

0

6,527

6,238

6,322

7,812

–507

1,623

0

0

0

8,928

13,024

15,664

3,875

0

500

0

0

0

4,375

10,783

11,642

16,679

–497

4,230

0

582

0

19,830

30,045

33,628

25,218

–38

1,691

0

2,095

–6

24,770

24,556

25,059

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,144

4,118

156,343

331

18,044

0

35,658

2,604

141,664

70,718

68,847

24,509

11

2,321

0

2,736

–2,598

21,507

7,029

7,976

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

24,194

23,822

206,070

304

22,056

0

40,489

0

187,941

126,497

125,704

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

313

239

–3,213

–2

0

–1,448

–1,491

0

–3,172

7,477

7,640

0

0

505

0

0

0

505

5,074

2,227

78

0

70

0

55

0

93

1,666

2,547

–3,135

–2

575

–1,448

–1,436

0

–2,574

14,530

12,653

219,614

–195

26,861

–1,448

39,635

0

205,197

171,072

171,985
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Balance on
02/01/06
TEUR

Accumulated Depreciation
Currency
translation
WriteDisdifferences Additions
ups
posals 1
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR
TEUR

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Segment Reporting
Appendix 2 to the Notes

1. Primary segments (segment information by business segment)
Sinter
TEUR

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

159,867

160,575

159,636

145,190

69,932

62,472

559

525

3,289

2,928

1,364

448

159,307

160,050

156,347

142,262

68,568

62,024

7,131

7,486

38,857

37,631

6,386

1,271

Depreciation and amortization

11,355

13,195

7,742

7,535

5,425

3,404

Operating income EBIT

–4,224

–5,209

31,115

30,096

961

–2,133

1,891

1,442

–78

6

0

0

123,970

131,020

153,489

147,634

67,764

99,826

6,047

5,717

1,455

1,761

0

0

Liabilities

99,707

97,639

82,262

72,545

42,610

49,557

Investments (excluding financial investments)

18,904

15,055

11,894

9,848

3,987

5,287

398

3,010

2,802

383

–3,313

–242

1,180

1,415

905

849

530

500

Intercompany sales only
External sales only

Operating income EBITDA
Financial Statements | Segment Reporting

Friction

2007-08

Sales revenue

52

Bearing

Income from associates consolidated by
equity method only

Assets
Equity interests in associated companies only

Other non-cash income
and expenses
Number of employees (average)

2. Secondary segments (segment information by region)
Austria
TEUR
External sales
Segment assets
Investments (excluding financial investments)

EU excl. Austria

Asia

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

31,088

22,626

228,974

232,355

43,117

32,319

285,433

255,195

104,640

108,201

20,532

17,809

26,911

14,375

6,092

9,649

1,901

6,382

Consolidation

Total Group

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

15,307

14,784

17,024

16,515

387,717

366,506

11,811

12,614

17,024

16,515

0

0

3,496

2,170

0

0

387,717

366,506

2,164

2,156

74

98

54,464

48,446

2,370

2,171

26

19

26,866

26,286

–206

–15

48

79

27,598

22,660

0

0

0

0

1,813

1,448

33,969

29,956

48,275

81,678

330,917

326,758

0

0

0

0

7,502

7,478

21,832

22,748

93,189

88,120

153,222

154,369

1,162

1,703

–11

19

35,958

31,874

–261

–441

0

0

–374

2,710

91

86

0

0

2,706

2,850

NAFTA

Other

Consolidation

53

Total Group

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

2007-08

2006-07

70,093

62,048

14,445

17,158

0

0

387,717

366,506

45,337

50,914

0

0

125,025

105,361

330,917

326,758

1,086

1,531

0

0

33

63

35,957

31,874
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Other

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

Affiliated Companies
as of January 31, 2007
Appendix 3 to the Notes

Miba AG holds equity interests in 29 subsidiaries. Four subsidiaries are not consolidated (for reasons of materiality). The
following list includes only the 21 significant consolidated subsidiaries or associated companies plus the parent
company, in accordance with IAS 27.32:

Financial Statements | Affiliated Companies
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Direct and
indirect
Nominal equity interests
Type of
capital
%
consolidation

Seat of the
company

Country

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

9,500

100.0

CC

Miba Sinter Austria GmbH

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

8,400

100.0

CC

Miba Sinter Slovakia s.r.o.

Dolný Kubín

Slovakia

SKK in thousands 111,446

100.0

CC

Miba Sinter Holding
GmbH & Co KG

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

110

100.0

CC

Miba Sinter Holding GmbH

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

35

100.0

CC

Company

Currency

Affiliated companies:
Miba Aktiengesellschaft

Miba Sinter Group

Seat of the
company

Country

Miba Gleitlager GmbH

Laakirchen

Austria

Miba Bearings US LLC

McConnelsville,
Ohio

Company

Currency

Direct and
indirect
Nominal equity interests
Type of
capital
%
consolidation

Miba Bearing Group
TEUR

8,750

100.0

CC

USA

USD in thousands

29,000

100.0

CC

SGD in thousands

1,075

100.0

CC

Miba Far East PTE Ltd.

Singapore

Singapore

Miba Automation
Systems Ges.m.b.H.

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

45

100.0

CC

Miba China Holding GmbH

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

4,000

100.0

CC

Miba Precision Components
(China) Co. Ltd. 1

Suzhou,
Industrial Park

64,978

100.0

CC

China

CNY in thousands

Miba Friction Group
Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

35

100.0

CC

Miba Frictec GmbH

Laakirchen

Austria

TEUR

40

100.0

CC

Miba HydraMechanica
Corp.

Sterling Heights,
Michigan

Miba Frictec Holding Ltd.
Miba Tyzack Ltd.
Tyzack Ltd.

2

2

3

Miba Steeltec s.r.o.

USA

USD in thousands

8,284

100.0

CC

Sheffield

UK

GBP in thousands

6,400

100.0

CC

Sheffield

UK

GBP in thousands

3,535

100.0

CC

Sheffield

UK

GBP in thousands

2,005

100.0

CC

SKK in thousands 155,548

100.0

CC

1,000

100.0

CC

Vráble

Slovakia

Austria

TEUR

Mahle Metal Leve Miba
Sinterizados Ltda. 1

Sao Paulo

Brazil

BRL in thousands

100

30.0

CE

ABM Advanced Bearing
Materials LLC 1

Greensburg,
Indiana

USA

USD in thousands

4,540

50.0

CE

Others
High Tech Coatings GmbH
Associated companies

CC = fully consolidated companies (subsidiaries)
CE = companies “consolidated at equity,” i.e., associates accounted for in consolidated statements under the equity method
1 Balance sheet date Dec. 31, 2007
2 In liquidation since Feb. 1, 2008
3 In liquidation since Dec. 31, 2007
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Miba Friction Holding GmbH

Miba Aktiengesellschaft, Laakirchen

2008-09 Financial Calendar

Press Conference on the 2007-08 Business Year
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May 7, 2008

First Quarter Results for 2008-2009

June 13, 2008

22nd Annual General Meeting

June 27, 2008

Press Conference on Six-Monthly Results of 2008-09

September 11, 2008

Third Quarter Results for 2008-09

December 12, 2008

Miba Aktiengesellschaft
Dr.-Mitterbauer-Str. 3, 4663 Laakirchen, Austria
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e-mail: info@miba.com, http://www.miba.com
Susanne Dickstein
Head of Corporate Communications
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Miba Italia

Miba Deutschland

Miba Gleitlager
Miba Sinter Austria
Miba Frictec
Miba Automation Systems
High Tech Coatings

Miba Sinter Slovakia
Miba Steeltec

ABM Advanced
Bearing Materials 1
Miba Bearings US

Miba HydraMechanica

Mahle Metal Leve
Miba Sinterizados 2
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Key Figures 2007|2008

2007-2008

2006-2007

2005-2006

387.7

366.5

347.0

Part of sales outside Austria in %

92.0

93.8

94.3

EBIT

27.6

22.2

22.4

Income Statement (in million EUR)
Sales

EBT

24.6

15.5

21.7

Earnings after taxes

17.3

11.8

14.7

Balance sheet total

330.9

326.8

322.8

Non-current assets

177.7

180.5

176.9

Liabilities

153.2

154.4

158.1

Group equity

177.7

172.4

164.8

53.7

52.7

51.1

Cash flow from operations

52.3

38.8

37.8

Investments (excluding financial investments)

36.0

31.9

46.8

Depreciation

26.9

26.3

29.0

Employees yearly average

2,706

2,850

2,683

Personnel costs (in million EUR)

121.4

125.1

120.9

Balance Sheet (in million EUR)

Group equity as % of total capital
Cash flow and Investments (in million EUR)

Employees

Miba Far East
■ Production sites

Stock Exchange Data (in EUR)
Earnings per share

13.29

9.07

11.30

Dividend per share

3.30

2.80

2.80

Dividend yield in %

2.77

2.69

2.36

119.10

104.00

118.70

Share quotation
at closing of business year (01/31)

Miba Precision Components

■ Sales and engineering offices
All companies are 100% subsidiaries, except for
ABM Advanced Bearing Materials (50%) and
2) Mahle Metal Leve Miba Sinterizados (30%).
1)

Introduction & Management Report

Introduction & Management Report

Annual Report

2007l08

2007l08
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